10.

11.

12.

13.

MEETING OF THE
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Wednesday, September 10, 2014
8:30 a.m. Meeting

Room 601, City Hall

AGENDA

Call to order

Approve Meeting Minutes from August 13, 2014 (8:30) ....oovovoeeeecsccvcevevrerrerssssssssssisssssssnnees Motion
(enclosure)

Accept August 31, 2014 Financial Statements (8:33)........coorrrvomsrvvienreienerseeeses oo Motion
(enclosure)

Approve Lease Amendment with City of Grand Rapids (8:38) ...........cccvvrrmmmmmesssiiiivirerrrrrne Motion
(enclosure)

Approve Lease Amendment with Grand Rapids Downtown Market (8:42)....................... Motion
(enclosure)

Execute Property Exchange Agreement with City of Grand Rapids (8:52) ......cccccccee.. Motion
(enclosure)

Approve Lease Agreement for GR Forward Open House Pop-Up (9:07) ..cccccccccccvvve. Motion
(enclosure)

Movies in the Park Impact Report (9:15)......oovvvrriionricireieee e .Info Item
DGRI President & CEO Report (9:30).......cvvcmvvveneeeeieereiess s sosssssssssenssnns Info Item
DDA Chair REPOIt (9:35).....vveieeiesieeee e s s Info Item
Public Comment (9:40)

Board Member Discussion (9:45)

Adjournment

Downtown Grand Rapids

Harris

Wallace

Larson

Larson

Larson

Kelly

Larson
Larson

Larson

Prosperous <* Livable < Walkable <+ Inclusive <* Green <+* Connected <* Distinctive



UNAPPROVED MINUTES

MEETING OF THE DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

August 13, 2014

Call to Order - The meeting was called to order at 8:31 a.m. by Chair Brian Harris.
Attendance

Present: Kayem Dunn, Jane Gietzen, Brian Harris, Mayor George Heartwell, Elissa Hillary,

Diana Sieger, Jim Talen, Rick Winn

Absent: Dr. Wendy Falb

Others Present: Kristopher Larson (Executive Director), Mary Sierawski (DDA Executive
Asst/Office Manager), Jana Wallace (DDA Treasurer), Eric Pratt, Tim Kelly, Bill Kirk, Kim
Van Driel, Mandy Cech (staff), Marcia Warner (GRPL), Pete Daly (GRBJ), Jim Harger
(MLive), and others.

Approval of Minutes of July 9, 2014

Motion: Diana Sieger, supported by Elissa Hillary, moved approval of the minutes of the July 9,
2014 DDA meeting as presented. Motion carried unanimously.

Accept June 30, 2014 Financial Statements

Ms. Wallace provided preliminary financial statements for the period ending June 30, 2014,
including: Statement A: Balance Sheet; Statement B; Comparison of FY2014 Budget vs
Actual Results; Statement C: Statement of Project Expenditures; Statement D: Schedule of
June 2014 Expenditures.

Ms. Wallace said as part of the FY2014 year-end closing process, an entry will be made to
allocate portions of the FY2014 Administration expenditures to the Monroe North Tax

Increment Finance Authority and the Downtown Improvement District.

Motion: Jane Gietzen, supported by Kayem Dunn, moved to approve Statement D: Schedule of
June 2014 Expenditures as recommended. Motion carried unanimously.

Financial Audit Services Contract for Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2014

Ms. Wallace said BDO has been chosen to conduct the FY2014 audit. Ms. Wallace said
during the past six years BDO has consistently provided exemplary auditing and consulting
services. In February 2014, the City Commission awarded an extension to the BDO USA,
LLP contract to include financial audit and due diligence services for the fiscal year ending



Downtown Development Authority
Minutes - August 13, 2014

Page 2

June 30, 2014. Mr. Harris asked if there is a requirement to rotate the audit. Ms. Wallace said
no, and at this time the City has decided to extend the BDO contract for one more year.
BDO is asking for the DDA Board'’s approval to begin the audit process.

Motion: Diana Sieger, supported by Jane Gietzen, moved to approve a contract with BDO USA
LLP for audit services for fiscal year ended June 30, 2014. Motion carried unanimously.

Consent to Liguor License Application for Parsley, 80 Ottawa NW

Mr. Pratt presented a liquor license application for Parsley Mediterranean Grill (Parsley’s).

Mr. Pratt said Parsley’s is seeking a Class C Resort Liquor License which will allow for the sale
and consumption of beer and wine on premise. Mr. Pratt introduced Rudy, the proprietor of
Parsley’s to answer any questions. The proprietor relayed that Parsley’s would be increasing its
hours and would continue to use all Michigan products. Mayor Heartwell complimented
Parsley’s on their food and asked if they will be changing the interior of the restaurant because
of the liquor license. The proprietor replied that they would be spreading out the seating and
will be transitioning to more of a restaurant feel.

Motion: Kayem Dunn, supported by Mayor George Heartwell, moved to approve Parsley
Mediterranean Grill’s liquor license resolution. Motion carried unanimously.

Authorize Contract with Walk Your City

Mr. Kirk said that during the FY15 budget planning process, the Alliance for Livability
prioritized a pilot program to encourage increased pedestrian activity in the Downtown
through the use of simple wayfinding signage. Some specific goals of the effort include
improved connectivity, enhanced wellness, alleviation of auto traffic, congestions, and parking
issues, as well as continued progress towards becoming a “park once” Downtown. Mr. Kirk
shared that Walk Your City is an organization and program that assists in planning,
production, and implementation of fully customizable pedestrian and bicycle wayfinding
systems. Mr. Kirk said this would be a pilot program to last approximately 12-18 months. Ms.
Gietzen asked about the colors of the signs. Mr. Kirk said the Alliance can decide how it
would like to tailor the colors to fit Grand Rapids. Ms. Sieger asked about private businesses
getting involved and asked if there would be a cost. Ms. Sieger also said it's important to
make this program known to all businesses so that they are given an opportunity to
participate. Ms. Hillary said she thinks that this is a great idea to increase pedestrian traffic to
retail stores in the Downtown. Mr. Talen asked about the software infrastructure such as GPS
or Google mapping. Mr. Kirk said that work is done on the back end of the system, DGRI
would provide the locations and Walk Your City completes the mapping. Mayor Heartwell
said that while walking is good and promoting local business is good, sign pollution within the
Downtown can be a bad thing, and the proliferation of signage takes away from the natural
environment and beauty of buildings. Mayor Heartwell said he wouldn’t necessarily want
these signs to be permanent and he doesn't really like the way they look. Mayor Heartwell



Downtown Development Authority
Minutes - August 13, 2014
Page 3

added that people might start putting their own signs or writing on them and this may violate
the City’s rule about signage. Mayor Heartwell said he is worried about cluttering the
Downtown, and that he is less than enthusiastic, but will support this pilot program. Ms.
Sieger said she would like to see a statement in the marketing materials about it being a pilot
program and that it will comply with all City sign regulations. Mr. Harris said it sounds like the
Board is willing to take this experiment on. Mr. Harris said the Board should identify the top
three things we want to learn from this pilot program, and if we learn those things
affirmatively, then perhaps we make the program more permanent, while recognizing the issue
of sign pollution and obeying City ordinance. Mr. Kirk said there could be an opportunity to
incorporate this program within the permanent system that already exists. Mr. Kirk said the
ability to track foot traffic will give us a lot of data for future use. Ms. Gietzen asked if the
Safety Ambassadors or clean team will be keeping an eye on the signs. Mr. Kirk said yes, the
signs will be monitored reqularly. Mr. Pratt said there’s also a tertiary benefit from this project
in helping people overcome the perceived distances between locations and the spatial
disconnect that many people have. Ms. Dunn said this will be a learning experience for
everyone and that the education aspect of the program is a huge benefit.

Motion: Kayem Dunn, supported by Diana Sieger, moved to authorize expenditures not-to-
exceed $10,000 for the design and purchase of signage from Walk Your City for the pilot
wayfinding signage project. Motion approved unanimously.

9. Report from DGRI President and CEO

MNTIFA (8/13)
e Will adopt FY15 MNTIFA Budget
e  Will consider funding for

DID (10/7)

e  Will appoint a Steering Committee for DID re-authorization

DGRI Board of Advisors (7/16)
e Received a preview of Rapid Silver line project
e Received an update on GRForward / Downtown Plan
e Received an overview of fiduciary budgets

Alliances:

INVESTMENT (8/12)

¢ Chair: Nikos Monoyios, Long Range Planner @ The Rapid
e Advising on the Downtown Plan process
¢ Divided into Implementation-based Working groups:

o Real Estate Incentives



Downtown Development Authority
Minutes - August 13, 2014

Page 4

@)
@)
@)

River Activation
Public Space Activation
Infrastructure

e  Working groups reporting out for consensus building

VIBRANCY (8/18)

e Appointed a new Chair - Brandy Moeller
e Has recommended allocation of all Event support funds for FY15
¢ Divided into Implementation-based Working groups:

o Holiday Décor

o Special Events Optimization

o Workforce Appreciation

o Diversity & Inclusion

o Public Space Activation
LIVABILITY (8/26)

e Chair: Lynee Wells, Principal @ Williams & Works
o Assisting in the formation of a unified Downtown residential association

e Divided into Implementation-based Working groups:

(@]

@)
@)
@)
@)

Bicycles & Mobility

Asset Management
Clean, Safe, and Beautiful
Engagement

Urban Recreation

DGRI Staff Highlights

Five movies down - 1to go! (Next up: The Sandlot / Jurassic Park, Aug 22"
Administering Special Events Optimization Online and in-person - 647 respondents!
Soliciting quotes for Public Safety Task Force facilitation
Next Downtown Plan steering committee meeting - Sep 18"
Held Closing Event for Grandwich 2014 August 1*

Recent Kudos for Staff

Not sure if you have an involvement with the large Chess game set up on Monroe by the GRAM... but if you

know the person in charge, let them know - GREAT idea & success!!

We have a perfect view of it and there are always people playing it. We never see people goofy of or be
obnoxious with it. Right now, in the rain, there are three kids and a mom standing out of the rain, when it's the

kids turn they run out to make their move. So cute!



Downtown Development Authority
Minutes - August 13, 2014
Page 5

Lindsay Buist
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT | RDV CORPORATION

Hi Kris,

Hope you are well. | wanted to give you some feedback from Friday’s Movies In The Park: it was fantastic. The
fly over was cool, the movie was fun and the atmosphere was great. Your team did a great job.

Keep up the good work!
Kate

Kate O’Keefe
Heartside Neighborhood Collaboration Project (HNCP)

Sent: Monday, August 04, 2014 4:49 PM
To: Melvin Eledge - BBB
Subject:

Dear Melvin, Today, | did my primary grocery trip of the month-about 60 Ibs. of products coming home on the
bus with me. When | got off the bus, | got lucky as | was met by “Bill” who immediately offered to burden
himself with at least 2/3rds of that load. He took it the entire way to my apt-about 2 blocks and was extremely
cordial and cheerful about it. What a quy! It was obvious he loves working among the public. Sincerely, Susan B.

Sent: Saturday, August 09, 2014 12:43 PM
Subject: Feedback about Rebecca in Grand Rapids

Hello -

| am visiting Grand Rapids this week for a conference, and while | was downtown we happened to meet
Rebecca from the safety ambassador program. I’'m emailing to tell you how incredibly friendly and helpful she
was to us. She gave us great suggestions for restaurants and even walked us there! Rebecca was so full of
energy, enthusiasm, and positive feelings towards Grand Rapids, and gave us a wonderful flavor for the city. I'm
now thinking about coming back here sometime for a vacation since we had such a nice time here.

Thanks for having such a helpful and welcoming program in your city.

Rebecca Lewis

Sent: Friday, August 08, 2014 11:33 AM
Subject: Our Visit to GR

Melvin,

| am just wrapping up a 3 day visit to Grand Rapids with my family. We are from California and had a great
time here in Downtown Grand Rapids. We were greeted several times at various hours of the day and night by
‘Ambassadors’.



Downtown Development Authority
Minutes - August 13, 2014
Page 6

| am so impressed by this program and how genuine the representatives are. This morning we ran into Veronica
who went out of her way to greet us with a smile and ask if we needed any help or information. She was
wonderful as were several others who | did not get the name of.

| just wanted to let you know how great this program is to visitors and what great employees the program has.
Have a great day.

Brian Bencz and Family.

10. Public Comment

Mike Farage asked the DDA Board to not accept any funds from the Veterans millage if it is
passed on November 4". Mr. Farage asked the DDA Board to put their support in writing,
lead by example, and not take any funds from the Veterans millage.

11. Board Member Discussion

Ms. Dunn shared that the Downtown Market achieved ‘Gold’ LEED designation and thanked
Mayor Heartwell for his ongoing efforts in encouraging sustainability.

12. Adjournment

The meeting adjourned at 9:17 a.m.



CITY OF GRAND BARIDS - DDWI\ITC}WN DE\/EI_CJFDMENT AUTHDF{ITY

Agenda Item 3.
September 10, 2014
DDA Meeting
DATE: September 5, 2014
TO: Brian Harris
Chairman
FROM: Jana M. Wallace
Downtown Developphent Authority Treasurer

SUBJECT: FY2015 Financial Statements Through August 31, 2014

Attached are the financial statements for the first two months of the fiscal year ending June
30, 2015.

The attached August 31, 2014 statements inciude:

Statement A: Balance Sheet

Statement B: Comparison of FY2015 Budget vs Actual Results
Statement C: Statement of Project Expenditures

Statement D: Schedule of July and August, 2014 Expenditures

This is the first set of financial statements for the Authority’s fiscal year ending June 30,
2015. Budgets on Statements B and C have been updated to reflect the FY2015 budgets
approved by City Commission in June then adopted by the Authority in July. The Authority
issued $370,286 of Summer 2014 property tax reimbursements to project developers, in
accordance with eligible costs described in project agreements.” On Statement D, there
are four expenditures where the descriptions include the phrase, “ACCRUED TO FY2014.”
These expenditures are for services provided in FY2014 so they have been charged to
FY2014, via journal entry, rather than to FY2015 even though they were paid after June
30, 2014.

Please contact me at 616-456-4514 or jwallace@grcity.us if you have any questions.

Attachments




STATEMENT A

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Balance Sheet
August 31, 2014

Non-Tax Debt Local Tax
Funds Increment Increment TOTAL
ASSETS
Pooled Cash and Investments $ 5,469,181 $ 2,238,789 $ 2478832 $ 10,186,802
Petty Cash - - 500 500
Debt Service Reserve Fund - 5,400,766 - 5,400,766
Accounts Receivable 8,095 - - 8,995
Tax increment Receivable - (1,033) - (1,033)
Loan Receivable - Project Developer 898,848 - - 898,848
Loan Receivable - Special Assessments 18,420 - - 18,420
General Fixed Assets - - 90,386,880 90,386,880
Future Tax Increment Revenues Anticipated - 31,877,460 225,750 32,103,210
TOTAL ASSETS $ 6,395,444 $ 39,515,982 $ 93,091,962 $ 139,003,388
LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY
Liabilities
Current Liabilities $ 257 $ - 3 1,766 $ 2,023
Parking Revenue Payable 3,644 - - 3,644
Project Increment Due to Developers - - 47,216 47,216
Due o Other Governmental Units - 3,774,319 - 3,774,318
Deposit - Area 1 and Area 5 Options fo Buy 122,903 - - 122,903
Deposit - Movies in the Park Vendors 1,800 - - 1,900
Net Retiree Health Care Obligation ' - - (5,906) (5,906)
Prior Year Property Tax Appeals - 42 528 22,139 64,667
Deferred Revenue - Developer Loan 898,848 - - 898,848
Contract Payable - - 225,750 225,750
Bonds Payable - 31,877,460 - 31,877,460
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,027,552 35,694,307 290,965 37,012,824
Fund Balance / Equity:
Investments in General Fixed Assets - - 90,386,880 90,386,880
Non-Tax Increment Reserve 4 804,182 - - 4. 804 182
Reserve for Authorized Projects - - 1,971,133 1,971,133
Reserve for Brownfield Series 2012A Bonds 514,748 - - 514,748
Reserve for Compensated Absences - - 6,897 6,897
Reserve for Eligible Obligations - 3,821,675 - 3,821,675
Reserve for Encumbrances 48,062 - 436,087 485,049
TOTAL FUND EQUITY 5,367,892 3,821,675 92,800,997 101,990,564

TOTAL LIABILITIES & FUND EQUITY $ 6,395,444 $ 39,515,982 $ 93,091,962 $ 139,003,388

Note 1: This line is the accumulated amounts of the actuarially determined Annual Required Contributions (ARC) for
pre-65 year old retiree health insurance in excess of the "pay as you go" charges disbursed from the Retiree Health
Insurance Fund plus interest on the unpaid portion of the prior year liability. The trust fund is currently over-funded
which is why the account has a negative balance, ddastmts-aug14.xls jmw 09042014



STATEMENT B

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Comparison of FY2015 Budget vs Actual Resuits
July 1, 2014 - August 31, 2014

Non-Tax Funds Debt Tax Increment Local Tax Increment
Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual
REVENUES
Property Tax increment - General $ - $ - $ 7,529,127 3 - $ 4237009 $ -
Property Tax Increment - Transit Millage - - - - 385,681 -
Property Tax Increment - Prior Year Appeals - - (200,000} - (100,000) -
Property Tax Increment - Rebates to City / TP - - - - (278,682) -
Special Assessments - Areaway 15,000 - - - - -
Brownfield Authority - Grandville Avenue - - - - 21,973 -
Interest on Investments - General 18,747 24 576 10,000 - 50,644 75,249
Interest on Investments - Multi-Year Accrual Reversal ’ - (28,853) - - - (95,792)
Interest on Investments - The Gallery Note 40,167 - - - - -
Miscellaneous Fees / Reimbursements 500 - - w 10,000 625
Property Rental - DASH Parking Lots 336,925 - - - - -
Property Rentals - Movies in the Park Vendors - 1,250 - - - -
Property Rentals - Winter Avenue Building 9,000 - - - - -
Property Rentals - YMCA Customer Parking 52,000 8,450 - - - -
From / (To) Fund Balance 3,127,112 - (10,000) - ’ 145,089 -
TOTAL REVENUES §$ 3,599451 % 5,823 $ 7,329,127 $ - $ 4471714 $§ (19,918)
EXPENDITURES
investment - Planning and Infrasiructure
Development Incentive Programs $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 1085000 $ 371,536
Transit Projects - Transit Millage Funded - - - - 125,000 6,250
Planning 35,000 - - - 350,000 28,838
Public Infrastructure 2,051,451 - - - 890,000 11,441
Investment Total $ 2,086,451 § - $ - $ - $ 2,450,000 $ 418,065
Livability - Residents / Workers / Neighborhood 605,000 28,652 - - 700,000 3,277
Vibrancy - Attracting Visitors 808,000 46,500 - - - -
Miscellaneous 100,000 2,147 - - - -
Total Alliance Projects $ 3,599,451 $ 77,299 $ - $ - $ 3,150,000 $ 421342
Administration - 219 - - 862,863 194,628
Debt Service for Bond Issues ‘ - - 5,479,525 - 458,851 -
Estimated Capture to be Returned - - 1,849,602 - - -

TOTAL EXPENDITURES §$ 3,509,451 $ 77,518 $ 7,329,127 4,471,714 $ 615,970

&%
1
L.

L)

EXCESS / (DEFICIT) $ - § (71695 $ N 5 - $ . {635,868)

Note 1: For efficiency reasons, the City Treasurer dees not record interest revenue when earned from multiple year investments. Instead, revenues
associated with muitiple year investments are accumulated annually, accrued, and then reversed in the following fiscal year. ddastmts-aug14.xs imw 09042014



STATEMENT C

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Statement of Current Project Expenditures
As of August 31, 2014

Project Budgets EXPENDITURES Available
Project Title % Cost Month Fiscal Year All Years Budget

Areazway Fill Program (ARIP) $ 35000 "% g - $ - $ 35,000
Building Re-use Incentive Program (BRIP) 250,000 2 1,250 1,250 248,750
Development Project Reimbursements 750,000 "? 370,286 370,286 379,714
Streetscape Improvement Incentive Program 50000 "2 - - 50,000
Investment - Development Incentives Sub-Total  10.72% $ 1,085,000 $ 371,536 § 371,536 $ 713,464
Amtrak Station Relocation 800,000 - - 746,164 53,838
DASH North Shuitle Services 150,000 6,250 6,250 143,750
Investment - Transit Miltage Funded Sub-Total 839% § 950,000 $ 8,250 § 6,250 $ 746,164 $ 197,586
Dawntown Plan 487,500 28,838 28,838 187,812 260,688
Investment - Planning Sub-Total 482% $ 487,500 $ 28,838 § 28838 § 187,812 $ 299,688
Arena South Implementation 230,809 7 - - 34,024 196,785
Bostwick Avenue - Lyon St to Crescent St 225,000 2 - - - 225,000
Bridge Street Streetscape Improvs 125,000 “ - - - 125,000
Grand River Activation 232,435 2 - - 132,435 100,000
Michigan / Ottawa Gateway 300,000 2 - - - 300,000
Monroe Ave Resurfacing - L.ouis {0 }-198 165,000 # - - - 165,000
Monroe Center-Phase 3 / Monument Park 725000 ¢ 11,441 11,4414 1,174,686 (454,686)
Ottawa Avenue Publiic Improvements 330,000 - - - 330,000
State Street - Jefferscn to Lafayette 450,000 2 - - - 450,000
Veterans Park improvements 100,000 * - - - 100,000
Weaithy Street - US 131 to Division Ave 885,000 2 - - - 885,000
Weston Street - Sheldon to LaGrave Ave 400,000 ? - - - 400,000
Investment - Public infrastructure Sub-Totai 41.49% § 4,168,244 [3 11,441 M441 $ 1,346,145 $§ 2,822,099
Downtown Speakers Series 35000 "3 - - 35,000
Investment - Non-Tax Supported Sub-Total 035% § 35,000 $ - 3 - $ 35,000
Accessibility and Mobility Repairs 10,000 **? - - 10,000
Bicycle Friendly Improvements 401,000 2 - - 111,123 289,877
Downtown Census 30,000 2 - - 30,000
Public Realm Improvements 200,000 2 - - - 200,000
Seward Ave Non-Motorized Facility 56,730 2 2,974 2974 18,268 38462
Srowmelt System Repairs / Investigation 532,574 z - - 382,675 149,999
Urban Recreation Plan 326,406 2 303 303 51,799 274697
Wayfinding Systern Improvements 310,000 * - - - 310,000
Livability - Local Tax Supported Sub-Total 18.45% $ 1,866,800 $ 3,277 % 3277 % 563,765 $ 1,303,035
Division Ave Task Force implemntn 5000 M - - 5,000
Downtown Safety Ambassadors 300,000 ™3 24,600 24,600 275,400
Educational Partnerships Initiatives 10,000 ¥ - - 10,000
Project and Fixed Asset Maintenance {00,000 3 2,295 2,215 97,785
Recreational Walk / Tour Sighage 40,000 ° - - - 40,000
Riverwalk Maintenance so0,000 "¥ - - 60,000
Stakeholder Engagement Program g000 2 225 225 4775
Street Trees Maintenance Program 5,000 3 - - 5,000
Transportation Demand Mrmt Prog 92,500 "* 1612 1,612 80,888
Winter Avenue Building Lease 2,500 * - - 2,500
Livability - Non-Tax Supported Sub-Total 613% $ 620,000 $ 28,652 $% 28,652 $ 591,348
Bridge Lighting Operations 10,000 ** - - 10,000
DGRI Event Producticn 45,000 T3 23,823 23,823 21177
Diversity/Inclusion Programming 10,000 '-* - - 10,000
Downtown Marketing 225000 *? 1,500 1,500 223,500
Downtown Workforce Program 15,000 - - 15,000
Go-Site Visitor Center at GRAM 30,000 ™ & - - 30,000
Holiday Décor Program 60,000 *° - - 60,000
Major Event Sponsorship §2,006 "° - - 82,000
Public Space Activation 30,000 *® - - 30,000
Rosa Parks Circle Skating Operations 42,000 " - - 42,000
Special Events - Grants 50,000 “* 11,697 11,697 38,303
Special Evenis - Office of 100,000 " g - - 100,000
Special Events - Training Program 5000 *? - - 5,000
State of Dntn Event & Annual Reparts 22500 3 150 150 22,350
Ticketed Events - Police Services 80,000 3 5,339 5,339 74,661
Wayfinding Sign Maintenance - e 3,091 3,091 (3,981}
Vibrancy Support Sub-Total 797% $ 806,500 $ 46,500 $ 46,500 § 760,000
Expertience - Miscellaneous 100,000 2 2,125 2125 97,875
Monroe Ave Phase 3 Services -8 22 22 22
Misc - Non-Tax Supported Sub-Total 0.99% $ 100,000 $ 2147 % 2,147 $ 97,853

TOTAL  10000%  § 10,119,044 $ 498,841 § 498,641 “§ 6,820,073

Note 1: Curreni year (FY2015) budget only.
Note 2: Paid from local tax increment.
Note 3: Paid from non-tax funds. ddastmts-aug14 xls jmw 08042014



STATEMENT D

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Schedule of Expenditures
July and August, 2014

Source Vendor Purpose / Project Description Amount

l.ocal HP3 LLC Development Project Reimbursements Summer 2014 tax increment reimbursement $ 277,244.10
Local Paychex Administration DGRI payroll, taxes, 401(k) - August, 2014 63,076.51
Local Paychex Administration DGRI payroll, taxes, 401(k) - July, 2014 62,049.37
l.ocal Two West Fulton LLC Development Project Reimbursements Summer 2014 tax increment reimbursement 32,583.35
Local Heaith Park Ceniral LLC Development Project Reimbursements Summer 2014 tax increment reimbursement 32,224.01
Local Interface Studio, LLC Downtown Plan DDA services - June 2014 ACCRUFD TO FY2014 30,881.88
Local Interface Studio, LLC Downtown Plan DA share of services - July 2014 25,685.33
Non Tax Block by Block Downtown Safety Ambassadors Monthly services - July 2014 23,567.85
Local DBD Properties, LLC Development Project Reimbursements Summer 2014 tax increment reimbursement 20,211.50
Non Tax Grand Rapids At Museum Experience - Miscellaneous Partial support ACCRUED TO FY2014 13,500.00
Non Tax Susan G. Kemen West Michigan Special Events - Grants Pariial event support 7,683.20
Local Priority Health Administration Health insurance - July 1-September 30, 2014 7,594.16
l.ocat O'Boyle Cowell Blalock & Assoc Monroe Center-Phase 3 / Monument Park  Reconstruction work through 03/31/2014 6,723.60
Locaf City Treasurer - Budget Office Administration Support services allocation - July, 2014 6,265.12
Local City Treasurer - Budget Office Administration Support services allocation - August, 2014 6,265.08
l.ocal City Treasurer - Parking Services [BASH North Shuttle Services Shuttle lease - June 2014 6,250.00
Non Tax Aerostars, Inc. DGRI Event Production Fly-over performance - Movies in the Park 6,000.00
Non Tax LiveSpace DGRI Event Production World Cup Socccer broadcast at Ah-Nab-Awen Park 5,907.50
Local 100 Commerce Development, LLC Development Project Reimbursements Summer 2014 tax increment reimbursement 5,646.98
Local Nagel Construction Inc Jefferson Avenue - Cherry St fo Fulton St Services - 11/01-04/30/14 ACCRUED TO FY2014 5611.12
Local Dickinson Wright PLLC Administration Legal services - sale of ict 1 May 2014 5,041.40
Local Dickinson Wright PLLC Administration Legal services - share of TiF legislation May 2014 4,713.71
Local City of Grand Rapids Administration Staff services - August, 2014 4.260.43
Local Federat Sguare Building Administration Share of July, 2014 office lease 4,184.10
Local Federal Square Building Administration Share of August, 2014 office lease 4.184.10
Local Federal Sguare Building Administration Share of September, 2014 office lease 4,184.10
Non Tax Larry Merkel dba Alpine Trailer DGRI Event Production Trailer for hauling - Movies in the Park 3,809.98
Local Fishbeck, Thompson, Carr & Huber  Monroe Center-Phase 3 / Monument Park  Professional services through 06/30/2014 3,667.35
Local Bickinson Wright PLLC Downtown Plan Legal services - Interface agreement May 2014 3,152.81
Non Tax City Treasurer - Police Department Ticketed Events - Police Services Pedestrian safety - June 2014 3,013.97
Non Tax Wiilliams & Works Wayfinding Sign Maintenance Professional services - July 2014 3,011.02
Non Tax Meijer State Games of Michigan Special Events - Grants Support for Urban Downhili Skateboard Fvent 2,814.06
Local Michigan Dept of Transportation Seward Ave Non-Motorized Facility Local progress payment - July 2014 2,415.55
Non Tax City Treasurer - Police Department Ticketed Events - Police Services Pedestrian safety - July 2014 2,324.88
lLocal Dickinson Wright PLLC Administration Legal services - share of TIF legislation June 2014 2,299.68
Non Tax Friends of Grand Rapids Parks Experience - Miscellaneous Group facilitation - special event application process 2,125.00
Local Dickinson Wright PLLC Administration Legal services - Civic Theater areaway May 2014 1,729.00
Nen Tax  Valley City Sign Project and Fixed Asset Maintenance Install DGR logo prints on downtown trash cans 1,530.00
Non Tax Grand Rapids Public Schools Downtown Marketing Advertisement in "We are GR" - August 2014 1,560.00
Local 68 Commerce LLC Development Project Reimbursements Summer 2014 tax increment reimbursement 1,438.69
Local City of Grand Rapids Administration Staff services - July, 2014 1,364.71
Local Fifth Third Bank - Procurement Card  Administration K. Larson - professional development 1,347.68
Non Tax  Priority Health Transportation Demand Mnmt Prog Health insurance - July 1-September 30, 2014 1,252.37
Local HUB International Midwest Limited Administration Share of D&C policy for August 2014-July 2015 1,251.92
Local Ml Blendz, LLC Building Re-use Incentive Program (BRIP)  Partial support - 15 lonia Ave. SW 1,250.00
Non Tax  Dwelling Place Special Events - Grants "First Fridays” event sponsorship 1,199.73
Non Tax DK Security DGRI Event Production Movies in the Park security - 7/25, 8/8, & 8/22/2014 1,116.00
Local City Treasurer - Risk Management Administration General insurance - July, 2014 1,072.00
Local City Treasurer - Risk Management Administration General insurance - August, 2014 1,068.00
Local Katerberg Verhage Inc. Monroe Center-Phase 3 f Monument Park  Reconstruction work - 07/01-07/29/2014 1,050.00
Non Tax Hark Up Music DGRI Event Production Movies in the Park entertainment 1,000.00
Local Dickinson Wright PLLC Adminisiration Legal services - misc matters June 2014 982.80
Non Tax Wiliams & Works Wayfinding Sign Maintenance Wayfinding/parking sign maintenance May 2014 979.84
Nen Tax Kerkstra Portable Restroom Svc, Inc DGRI Event Production Maovies in the Park portabie restrooms 7/11/14 960.00
Non Tax Kerkstra Portable Restroom Sve, Inc DGR Event Production Movies in the Park portabie restrooms 7/25/14 960.00
Non Tax Kerkstra Portable Restroom Sve, Inc DGRI Event Preduction Movies in the Park portable restrooms 6/6/14 960.00
Local Wondergem Consulting Administration Share of public relations - 07/01-07/15/2014 817.79

continued on the next page




STATEMENT D - continued
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Schedule of Expenditures
July and August, 2014

Source Vendor Purpose / Project Description Amount
continued from previous page

Non Tax Creafive Studio Promotions Downtown Safety Ambassadors Safety ambassador stickers - August 2014 778.00
Local City Treasurer - Parking Services Administration Parking - DGR staff- July, 2014 753.00
Local City Treasurer - Parking Services Administraiion Parking - DGR staff- August, 2014 753.00
Non Tax Kerksira Portable Restreom Sve, Ine DGR Event Production World Cup Soccer broadcast - portable restrooms 720.00
Local Applied Imaging Administration B/W & color copies - 04/15-07/14/2014 717.55
Non Tax City Treasurer - Water & Sewer Project and Fixed Asset Maintenance Wealthy St roundabout irmigation - January-July 2014 685.70
Local Dickinson Wright PLLC Administration lLegal services - misc matters May 2014 564.20
Local Seif and Materials Engineers, Inc. Seward Ave Non-Motorized Facility Concrete/asphalt testing - 05/26-06/30/2014 545.98
Local Fusion IT Administration Share of MS laptop hard drive replacement - 7/2014 540.81
Local Owen-Ames-Kimball Development Project Reimbursements Summer 2014 tax increment reimbursement 536.96
Non Tax Adam Bird Photography DGRI Event Production World Cup Soccer - photography services 490.00
Lecal Fifth Third Bank - Procurement Card  Administration Share of DGRI staff development 404.44
Non Tax Kathy Lamar DGRI Event Preduction Kathy Lamar - entertainment Movies in the Park 400.00
Local American Planning Association Administration Share of K. Larson - APA dues - 10/01/14-09/30/15 378.47
Local The Employers' Association Administration Share of TEA annual dues - July 2014-June 2015 358.92
Local Dickinson Wright PLLC Administration Legal services - Arena Place project May 2014 345.80
Local Eric Pratt Administration Traved reimb - MDA meeting 07/31-08/01/2014 340.93
Local Professional Maint of Michigan Inc Administration Share of janiforial services - July 2014 335.26
Local Dickinson Wright PLLC Administration Legal services - M & B FOIA requests - May 2014 327.60
Local Fifth Third Bank - Procurement Card  Urban Recreation Plan Chess board signage 303.28
Non Tax Adam Bird Photography DGRI Event Production Movies in the Park photography services 300.00
Non Tax  Adrian Butler DGRI Event Production Movies in the Park - DJ services 300.00
Non Tax Elite Security Services Inc DGR Event Production Movies in the Park security 07/11/14 300.00
Non Tax Cellco Partnership dha Verizon Transportation Demand Mnmt Prog B. Kirk cellphone svc/equip - 07/02-08/01/2014 294,67
Local Dickinson Wright PLLC Administration Legal services - share of DGRI corresp May 2014 27013
Local Federal Square Building Administration Share of 29 Pearl NW eiectricity - 08/07/2014 254.68
Non Tax Fifth Third Bank - Procurement Card  DGRI Event Production Mavies in the Park supplies 258.79
Locat Staples Advantage Administration Share of office supplies 250.18
Local U.S. Bank NA MMBA 2009A Bonds - Van Andel Arena Annuat paying agent fee 250.00
Local Fifth Third Bank - Procurement Card  Administration Share of SurveyMonkey subscription 222863
Non Tax  Fifth Third Bank - Procurement Card  Administration K. Larson - working lunch meetings 218.81
Local Staples Advantage Administration Share of office supplies 208.08
Local Paychex Administration Payroll processing fees - August, 2014 202.87
Local TDS Metrocom LEC Administration Share of 29 Pearl NW telephone service - June 2014 185.79
Local TDS Metrocom LEC Administration Share of 29 Pearl NW telephone service - July 2014 185.65
Local Fusion iT Administration Share of services - remote monitoring/sves Aug 2014 178.11
Local Cellco Partnership dha Verizon Administration Share of staff cellphone svciequip 06/02-07/01/2014 177.71
L.ocal Great America Financial Services Administration Share of Ricch copier system lease - August 2014 176.84
Local Kevin P. Murphy Administration Share of repainted storage room DGR office 175.61
Local Celico Partnership dba Verizon Administration Share of staff cellphone svc/equip 07/02-08/31/2014 173.69
Non Tax  Swift Printing & Communications DGRI Event Production Movies in the Park poster prints 173.18
Local PCS Gophers Administraticn Interoffice and mail service 157.03
Local Fusion IT Administration IT services - antivirus add-on July 2014 153,26
Non Tax  Fifth Third Bank - Procurement Card  State of Dnin Event & Annual Reporis State of the Downtown supplies 149.94
Lecal Dickinson Wright PLLC Administration Legal services - exchange Areas 1 and 5 June 2014 145.60
Nan Tax  Swift Printing & Communications State of Downtown Event & Annual Reports  Welcome poster & map ACCRUED TO FY2014 138.71
Local Paychex Administration HRS processing fees - Juily, 2014 135.00
Local Paychex Administration HRS processing fees - August, 2014 135.00
Local Paychex Administration Payroll processing fees - July, 2014 132.90
Local Great America Financial Services Administration Share of Ricoh copier system lease - July 2014 131.22
Non Tax City Treasurer - Parking Services Downtown Safety Ambassadors Melvin Eledge parking card - July 2014 127.00
Non Tax City Treasurer - Parking Services Downtown Safety Ambassadors Melvin Eledge parking card - August 2014 127.00
Non Tax  Swift Printing & Communications Stakeholder Engagement Program Alliance poster print 125.00
Local Fusion IT Administration Share of e-mail repair - July 2014 123.38
Local Staples Advantage Administration Share of office supplies 120.57
Local Fusion ICS LLC Adminisiration Share of phone system user / repair  January 2014 105.75
Non Tax Fifth Third Bank - Procurement Card  Stakeholder Engagement Program Condolence gift card - downtown stakeholder 100.00
Local Professional Maint of Michigan Inc Administration Share of event clean-up June 2014 95.79
Local Comcast Administration Share of 29 Pearl NW high speed internet - July 201< 95.68
Local Comcast Administration Share of 29 Pearl NW high speed intermet - June 201 76.54
Local Michigan Downtown Association Administration E. Pratt - professional development 75.00
Non Tax Staples Advantage DGRI Event Production Event supplies 65.54

continued on the next page




STATEMENT D - continued

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Schedule of Expenditures
July and August, 2014

Source Vendor Purpose / Project Description Amount
continued from previous page

Non Tax Cellco Partnership dba Verizon Transportation Demand Mnmt Prog B Kirk cellphone svc/equip - 06/02-07/01/2014 $ 64.73
Local Engineered Proiection Systems Inc Administration Share of 29 Pearl security sves - 08/01-10/31/14 57.47
Local Dickinson Wright PLLC Administration Legal services - Morton House agreement May 2014 54.60
Local Dickinson Wright PLLC Administration Legal services - sale of Area 5 May 2014 54.60
Non Tax Staples Advantage DGRI Event Production Movies in the Park supplies 44.83
Local JPMorganChase Administration Payroll account bank fees - August, 2014 37.70
Local JPMerganChase Administration Payroll account bank fees - July, 2014 37.12
Local Staples Advantage Administration Share of office supplies 36.90
Local Staples Advantage Administration Share of office suppiies 33.83
Local Staples Advantage Administration Share of office supplies 30.01
Non Tax Staples Advantage 'DGRI Event Production State of the Downtown supplies 25.99
Local Fifih Third Bank - Procurement Card  Administration Office supplies 29.66
Local Model Coverall Service Administration Share of floor mafs - 20 Peart NW - 07/23/2014 23.31
Local Model Coverall Service Administration Share of floor mats - 29 Peart NW - 07/09/2014 23.31
Non Tax Consurners Energy Monroe Ave Phase 3 Services Monroe Center Ph 3 - electricity - 06/26-07/24/2014 22.61
Non Tax Staples Advantage DGRI Event Production Various events supplies 21.29
Local Staples Advantage Administration Share of office supplies 14.68
Local Fishbeck, Thompson, Car & Huber  Seward Ave Non-Motorized Facifity Professional services through 06/30/2014 11.98
Local Marce Riolo LLC Administration Share of office supplies 8.62
Local Staples Advantage Administration Share of office supplies 8.30
Non Tax  Staples Advantage DGRI Event Production Movies in the Park supplies 5.98
Local Adams Remco Administration Share of copier usage at City Hall 5.08
Locai Adams Remco Administration Share of copier usage at City Hall 0.60

Local - local tax increment funds
Non-tax - non-tax funds
Debt - school fax increment funds

JULY AND AUGUST, 2014 EXPENDITURES § 743,719.65




NVEMERBANDUN

CITY OF GRAND RARIDS - BDOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

DATE: September 5, 2014 ?3;2‘:;:?042014
TO: Downtown Development Authority DDA Meeting
FROM: Kristopher Larson, AICP 9

Executive Director /

SUBJECT: Amending the Lease Agreement with the City of Grand Rapids

In September of 2013, Downtown Grand Rapids Inc. (DGRI) launched its Downtown Ambassador program (The Program) as
a means of providing an elevated hospitality amenity, providing direct on-street social service assistance, interacting with
stakeholders, and assisting in public safety efforts. Similar to a community-based policing model, the Downtown Ambassadors
spend 99% of their time within the public realm proactively interacting with stakeholders and seeking to meet the evolving
needs of Downtown.

With the launch of the Program, DGRI entered into a six-month lease with the City of Grand Rapids via the Parking Services
department for a very small space that functions as a deployment hub. That lease included a single six-month renewal option.
The space is located in the Monroe Center parking ramp, and serves as an operational headquarters for shift briefings, provides
a restroom facility that doubles as an area for changing into and out of uniforms, accommodates equipment storage, and offers
a small office for the Program’s Operations Manager. The space has no visible street presence and is accessed only from
within the ground floor of the parking ramp.

The amended lease agreement would extend the lease term to a month-to-month basis with a modest rental rate increase of
3% for the extended occupancy period. As the Program matures into its second year, DGRI staff are working with the
Program’s Operations Manager to determine the optimal location based upon various considerations that include but are not
limited to service needs, deployment efficiencies, and the relative impact that a deployment hub may have on areas most in
need of service.

The attached, amended lease terms have been developed in concert with the City’s Parking Services Department and were
drafted by the DDA’s legal counsel. The agreement must also be approved by the Grand Rapids City Commission.

Recommendation: Approve the amended lease terms as described in the attached resolution and agreement.




FIRST AMENDMENT TO SUBLEASE AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO SUBLEASE AGREEMENT is made and executed
as of this 15th day of September, 2014 (the "First Amendment™), between the CITY OF
GRAND RAPIDS, a Michigan municipal corporation (the “City”), and the CITY OF GRAND
RAPIDS DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a Michigan statutory authority
created by the City pursuant to Act 197 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1975, as amended (the
“DDA”).

RECITALS

A. The City and the DDA have previously entered into a Sublease Agreement dated
as of September 15, 2013 (the “Sublease Agreement”), which Sublease Agreement was
consented to by the City of Grand Rapids Building Authority (the “Building Authority”) as
required by a Contract of Lease dated as of October 1, 2001, between the Building Authority and
the City.

B. Pursuant to the terms of the Sublease Agreement, the City agreed to lease to the
DDA and the DDA agreed to lease from the City the Leased Premises (as defined in the Sublease
Agreement) for use as an office and dispatch center for the DDA’s safety ambassador program.

C. The term of the Sublease Agreement including a six month renewal option
exercised by the DDA expires at 12:00 a.m. on September 15, 2014, and the City and DDA have
agreed to extend the term of the Sublease Agreement for up to another twelve months with an
increase in the rent of 3%.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and conditions contained in this
First Amendment and the benefits to be mutually derived therefore, receipt and sufficiency of
which are mutually acknowledged, the City and DDA agree as follows:

Section 1. Extension of Term of Sublease Agreement. The term of the Sublease
Agreement shall be extended an additional year from 12:01 a.m. on September 15, 2014, to
12:00 a.m. on September 14, 2015 (the “Extension Term”), provided, however, the DDA may
terminate the Sublease Agreement at any time during the Extension Term upon thirty days prior
written notice for the City.

Section 2. Rent for the Extension Term. The DDA shall pay an amount equal to
$7,238.84 payable in equal monthly installments of $603.24 (the “Rent”)prorated for any partial
month and upon any early termination by the DDA pursuant to Section 1 of this First
Amendment. Rent shall be payable for the first partial calendar month of the Extended Term on
or before the first day of the Extended Term and thereafter in advance on the first business day of
each calendar month during the Extended Term.

Section 3. Ratification. Except as amended by this First Amendment, the Sublease
Agreement is hereby ratified and confirmed.

GRAPIDS 60856-342 334588v1



IN WITNESS OF WHICH, the City and the DDA have executed this First Amendment

as of the date first indicated above.

The City of Grand Rapids Building
Authority approves this First Amendment
to Sublease Agreement between the City
of Grand Rapids and the City of Grand
Rapids Downtown Development Authority.

By:

Eric R. DeLong, Chairperson

GRAPIDS 60856-342 334588v1

CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS

By:

George K. Heartwell, Mayor

Attest:
Darlene O’Neal, City Clerk

CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

By:

Brian Harris, Chairperson



CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

RESOLUTION  APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING
EXECUTION OF FIRST AMENDMENT TO SUBLEASE
AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS
RELATED TO LEASED SPACE FOR THE SAFETY
AMBASSADOR PROGRAM

Boardmember , supported by Boardmember , moved

adoption of the following resolution:

WHEREAS the City of Grand Rapids (the “City”) and the City of Grand Rapids
Downtown Development Authority (the “DDA”) previously entered into a Sublease Agreement
dated as of September 15, 2013 (the “Sublease Agreement”), for the lease by the DDA of certain
space in the Monroe Center Parking Ramp for use as an office and dispatch center for the safety

ambassador program; and

WHEREAS, the term of the Sublease Agreement expires on September 14, 2014, and
the City and DDA have agreed to extend the term for up to an additional twelve additional
months (subject to termination by the DDA at any time upon 30 days advance written notice) at
an adjusted 3% increase in rent pursuant to a First Amendment to Sublease Agreement (the

“First Amendment”).

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS:

1. That the First Amendment in the form presented at this meeting and as approved
by DDA legal counsel as to form is approved and the Chairperson of the DDA Board of
Directors is authorized and directed to execute the approved First Amendment for and on behalf

of the DDA.

GRAPIDS 60856-342 334589v1



2. That all resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict herewith shall be and the

same are hereby rescinded.

YEAS: Boardmembers

NAYS: Boardmembers

ABSTAIN: Boardmembers

ABSENT: Boardmembers

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED.

Dated: September 10, 2014

Mary Sierawski
Recording Secretary

CERTIFICATION

I, the undersigned duly qualified and acting Recording Secretary of the City of Grand
Rapids Downtown Development Authority (the “DDA”), do herby certify that the foregoing is a
true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of the DDA at a
meeting held on September 10, 2014, and that public notice of said meeting was given pursuant
to, and in compliance with, Act 267 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1976, as amended.

Dated: September 10, 2014

Mary Sierawski
Recording Secretary

GRAPIDS 60856-342 334589v1



NVEMERANDUN

CITY OF GRAND RARPIDS - DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Agenda Item 5
AR September, 2014 September 10, 2014
TO: Downtown Development Authority DDA Meeting
FROM: Kristopher Larson, AICP

v/

SUBJECT:  Amending the Agreement with the Downtown Market

Fxecutive Director

In January of 2012, the Downtown Development Authority entered into ground lease (The Agreement) with Grand Rapids
Downtown Market (GRDM) that outlined the various elements of the relationship between the DDA and GRDM. The
agreement included specifics about the land-lease relationship, operational guidelines for GRDM that outlined acceptable uses
within the market, debt service responsibilities and priorities, and requirements to maintain taxable property status, among
other details. The agreement was first amended in March of 2013 to add more clarity regarding the Agreement’s non-
disturbance language and provide specific provisions designed to enhance the on-going partnership between the DDA and

GRDM.

The process of developing the Agreement followed years of various memorandums of understanding (MOUs) between the
DDA, GRDM, and other partners such as the Grand Rapids Brownfield Authority. In drafting the MOUs, the contribution and
support that the DDA could offer GRDM evolved, as the Downtown Market project was both complicated and without many
local analogs. Following this iterative partnership evolution, it was determined that the preferred method of participation for
the DDA in the Downtown Market project would assembling the land, providing the land to GRDM in a long-term land lease,
and contributing to the debt service for the improved lonia St. streetscape project. In consideration of the significant
contributions of the DDA, the GRDM agreed to maintain the taxable classification of the property such that the DDA would
have some tax increment to use to offset the land acquisition costs and $75,000 annual debt service towards the bonds issued
via the Brownfield Authority used to rebuild lonia Street.

While the amount on annual debt service can be estimated with a high level of accuracy and certainty, the taxable value of the
Downtown Market, when finished, was less certain. As plans for the new Market were developed, financial estimates began to
emerge based on assumptions of new increment that would be captured by the DDA. The attached Agreement amendments
would effectively recalibrate the placeholder figure ($42,000) that appears in section 6.07 the original agreement to reflect
current projections of minimum taxes ($29,000) to be captured by the DDA.

The attached, amended lease terms have been developed in concert with the GRDM and were drafted by the DDA's legal
counsel.

Recommendation: Approve the amended Agreement terms as described in the attached resolution and agreement.




9/2/14 RAW

DEVELOPMENT AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS DEVELOPMENT AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT (the
“Agreement”) is made as of September 2, 2014, between the CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS
BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a Michigan public body corporate (the
“Authority”), whose address is 300 Monroe Avenue, N.W., Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 and
GRAND RAPIDS DOWNTOWN MARKET, INC., a Michigan nonprofit corporation
(“GRDM”), whose address is 435 lonia Avenue, S.W., Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 and
GRAND RAPIDS DOWNTOWN MARKET HOLDINGS, LLC, a Michigan limited liability
company (“Holdings”), whose address is 435 Ionia Avenue, S.W. Grand Rapids, Michigan
49503.

RECITALS

A. The Authority was created by the City of Grand Rapids (the “City”) pursuant to
the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, Act 381 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1996,
as amended (“Act 381”) and, pursuant to Act 381, the Authority has prepared a Brownfield Plan
which was duly approved by the City Commission of the City (the “Brownfield Plan™).

B. The City of Grand Rapids Downtown Development Authority (the “DDA”) was
created by the City pursuant to the Downtown Development Authority Act, Act 197 of the Public
Acts of Michigan of 1975, as amended (“Act 197”).

C. The Authority, the DDA and the Grand Action Committee (“Grand Action”)
entered into a Memorandum of Understanding Related to Urban Market Land dated as of
September 14, 2011 (the “MOU”) related to the collaborative development, financing and
construction of an urban market including multi-vendor space for fresh food markets with both a
year-round indoor component and space for an outdoor farmers’ market (the “Project”) to be
located on two parcels of property at 435 lonia Avenue S.W. and 109 Logan Street, S.W. at the
northwest corner of lonia Avenue, S.W., and Logan Street, S.W., in the City which have been
combined into one parcel consisting of approximately 3.5 acres and legally described on the
attached Exhibit A (the “Property”) and which is included in the Brownfield Plan as a “facility”
as defined in Act 381.

D. Included in the MOU is the requirement of the DDA to lease the Property for the
location of the Project for 99 years for $1.00 (the “Lease Terms”) and the agreement of the
Authority to issue tax increment bonds pursuant to Act 381 in an amount not to exceed
$2,325,000 (the “Bonds”), the proceeds of which are to be used to pay for certain public
infrastructure improvements related to the Project that constitute “eligible activities” as defined
in Act 381. The MOU describes the terms of the Bonds and how annual debt service on the
Bonds is to be paid, including the agreement of the DDA to make an annual $75,000 payment to
the Authority to be applied towards the annual debt service on the Bonds (the “DDA Annual
Payment”) as well as the reimbursement of “eligible activities” incurred by Holdings and related
to the Project. Further, the MOU approves the assignment by Grand Action of its interest in the
MOU to Holdings.

GRAPIDS 60856-254 320230v6



E. The DDA and Holdings, as successor to GRDM pursuant to an Assignment of
Lease effective as of May 23, 2013, between GRDM and Holdings, entered into a Ground Lease
dated as of January 1, 2012 (the “Lease”), leasing the Property to GRDM for the Project
according to the Lease Terms; which Lease further describes in Section 6.07 how annual debt
service on the Bonds is to be paid.

F. The Authority and the DDA entered into a Payment and Repayment Agreement
dated April 12, 2012 (the “P & R Agreement”), related to the priority of the use of tax increment
revenues, as defined in Act 381, realized from the Project (the “Authority Tax Increment
Revenues”). The P & R Agreement together with the MOU and the Lease provides that
Authority Tax Increment Revenues received by the Authority during any annual period (the
“Authority Annual Tax Increment Revenues™), beginning with the annual period commencing
July 1, 2012, and ending June 30, 2013, and continuing for each similar annual period thereafter
while the Bonds (or any bonds used to refund the Bonds) are outstanding, shall only be used in
accordance with the following priority:

l. First, to pay, when the principal of and/or interest on the Bonds become
due during such annual period after receipt and application of the DDA Annual Payment.

I. Second, to pay the annual administrative fee equal to 10% of such
Authority Annual Tax Increment Revenues (the “Administrative Costs”) up to the
maximum amount allowed annually for administrative costs under Act 381 for all
Authority projects.

II. Third, to the extent that DDA tax increment revenues, as defined in Act
197 related to the Project (the “DDA Tax Increment Revenues”) received during such
annual period is not at least equal to $29,000 the difference between $29,000 and the
DDA Tax Increment Revenues received (the “Annual Difference Amount”), to pay the
DDA, if GRDM has elected not to reimburse the DDA the Annual Difference Amount
during such annual period plus interest at the rate of 3.514% per annum, such Annual
Difference Amount and said interest all as provided in Section 6.07 of the Lease.

V. Fourth, if during an annual period, after applying the DDA Annual
Payment and the Authority Annual Tax Increment Revenues after deduction of
Administrative Costs, there is a shortfall in the amount to pay annual debt service due in
such annual period (the “Annual Shortfall Amount”), and the DDA has paid such Annual
Shortfall Amount to the Authority because GRDM has elected not to pay such Annual
Shortfall Amount plus interest at the rate of 3.514% per annum, to pay such Annual
Shortfall Amount plus applicable interest as provided in Section 6.07 of the Lease.

V. Fifth, to reimburse Holdings and GRDM for “eligible activities” meeting
the requirements of Act 381 and payable in accordance with the provisions of this
Agreement (the “Holdings Eligible Costs”).

VI. Sixth, to fund a local site remediation revolving fund (the ‘“Revolving
Fund”) as provided in and in accordance with Act 381.

-2-

GRAPIDS 60856-254 320230v6



The priority items identified as I, 11, 11l and IV above, including any accumulated unpaid amount
including, where applicable, interest due and unpaid with respect to an item, are collectively
referred to as the “Prior Priority Items.”

G. The Authority issued the Bonds entitled the “City of Grand Rapids Brownfield
Redevelopment Authority Tax Increment Bonds, Series 2012A” on June 12, 2012, in the
principal amount of $2,325,000 and the proceeds thereof have been used to pay for the cost of
“eligible activities” as defined in Act 381 related to the Project. The principal and interest on the
Bonds shall be payable in the amounts as provided on the attached Exhibit B (the “Bond
Payments”).

H. The Project has been completed by Holdings and GRDM and included (i) baseline
environmental assessment, (ii) due care and additional response, (iii) demolition including lead
and asbestos abatement, (iv) site preparation and (v) infrastructure improvements (the
“Improvements™) at total Holdings Eligible Costs of $902,765, all as described in the Revised
Amendment to the City of Grand Rapids Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Brownfield Plan
for the Grand Rapids Urban Market Holdings, LLC Project approved by the Authority Board on
August 18, 2011 (the “Brownficld Revised Amendment”), attached as Exhibit C. The Project
and the Improvements have had the effect and will continue to have the effect of assisting in the
redevelopment and reuse of the Property, increasing employment within the City, increasing the
tax base within the City and otherwise enhancing the economic viability and quality of life in the
City.

l. Subject to the Michigan Economic Growth Authority (“MEGA”) and Michigan
Department of Environmental Quality (“MDEQ”) approval of a work plan as defined in Act 381
for the Project (the “Work Plan”), which approval has been obtained, with respect to the state
education tax and taxes levied for school operating purposes (the “Educational Taxes”), Act 381
permits the Authority to capture and use the Authority Tax Increment Revenues to reimburse
Holdings and GRDM for Holdings Eligible Costs.

J. By undertaking the Improvements, Holdings and GRDM incurred the Holdings
Eligible Costs and the costs of preparing the Revised Brownfield Amendment and the Work Plan
and its review by MEGA and MDEQ of $18,176 (the “Work Plan Costs™), all as identified in the
Revised Brownfield Amendment.

K. The Authority has incurred and will incur certain Administrative Costs associated
with the Revised Brownfield Amendment for which it is seeking reimbursement from the
Authority Tax Increment Revenues other than Educational Taxes (the “Local Authority Tax
Increment Revenues™).

L. Following payment of all principal and interest payments due on the Bonds and
payment and/or reimbursement of all amounts due the Authority, the DDA and Holdings and
GRDM from applicable Authority Tax Increment Revenues, Authority Tax Increment Revenues
will be deposited in the Revolving Fund in accordance with the provisions of Act 381, provided,
however, that pursuant to Section 13(5) of Act 381, such deposits shall be made only 5 years

GRAPIDS 60856-254 320230v6



after the time the Authority Tax Increment Revenues are required to reimburse GRDM Eligible
Costs and Work Plan Costs.

M. The Authority, Holdings and GRDM are entering into this Agreement to establish
the procedures for such funding and reimbursement.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. Capture of Taxes. During the term of this Agreement, the Authority shall
capture Authority Tax Increment Revenues realized from the Project and Property and use those
Authority Tax Increment Revenues as permitted by Act 381 and as provided in this Agreement,
the MOU, the Lease and the P & R Agreement.

2. Submission of Holdings and GRDM Costs. For those Holdings Eligible Costs
and Work Plan Costs for which GRDM seeks reimbursement from the Authority, GRDM shall
submit to the Authority on or before 90 days after execution of this Agreement by the parties
hereto:

1) a written statement detailing the costs;

(2 a written explanation as to why they are Holdings Eligible Costs or
Work Plan Costs;

3) for those costs which have been approved by MEGA and MDEQ
for use of Educational Taxes, references to any applicable portions of the Work
Plan as approved by MEGA and MDEQ as expenses eligible for payment from
Educational Taxes;

4 copies of invoices from contractors, engineers or others who
provided such services, or, for Holdings’ or GRDM’s personnel for whose
services reimbursement is being sought, detailed time records showing the work
performed by such individuals; and

(5) all other information which may be required by the Michigan
Strategic Fund (as successor to MEGA), MDEQ or the Authority or their
respective auditors.

3. Payments.

€)) After the Authority Annual Tax Increment Revenues received by the
Authority during any annual period have been used to fully satisfy the Prior Priority
Items, any remaining Authority Annual Tax Increment Revenues shall be used to
reimburse Holdings and GRDM for Holdings Eligible Costs and Work Plan Costs
provided such Costs have not otherwise been paid for from a non-repayable grants
provided for the project, provided, however, if Holdings or GRDM has not paid
professional fees and costs (legal, environmental, etc.) incurred by the Authority related

-4-

GRAPIDS 60856-254 320230v6



to Holdings’ or GRDM’s request to use Authority Tax Increment Revenues to reimburse
either of them for Holdings Eligible Costs and Work Plan Costs (the “Professional Fees
and Costs”), the Authority is authorized to pay such costs from Authority Annual Tax
Increment Revenues before such Authority Annual Tax Increment Revenues are used to
reimburse Holdings or GRDM. The amount of Authority Annual Tax Increment
Revenues used to pay such costs shall be subtracted from total Holdings Eligible Costs
and Holdings or GRDM shall not be entitled to reimbursement of such amount. The
Authority shall have no obligation to reimburse Holdings or GRDM for Holdings Eligible
Costs or Work Plan Costs from Authority Tax Increment Revenues captured and received
by the Authority after December 31, 2043. The amount of taxes levied as Educational
Taxes that will be used to reimburse the Holdings Eligible Costs of implementing eligible
activities at the Property and Work Plan Costs will be limited to the Holdings Eligible
Costs of eligible activities and Work Plan Costs approved by MDEQ or MEGA. The
Authority may permit all Local Authority Tax Increment Revenues to be used to pay or
reimburse all costs approved by the Authority hereunder, regardless of whether any
particular cost item is approved by MDEQ or MEGA for payment of Educational Taxes,
provided that such cost item is eligible for reimbursement under Act 381.

(b) Unless it disputes whether such costs are Holdings Eligible Costs or Work
Plan Costs or the accuracy of such costs, the Authority shall, after approval of the
Authority Board, pay to Holdings or GRDM the amounts for which submissions have
been made pursuant to paragraph 2 of this Agreement, provided there are any remaining
Authority Annual Tax Increment Revenues after the use of such Authority Annual Tax
Increment Revenues to pay the Prior Priority Items and any Professional Fees and Costs
(as provided in subparagraph (a) of this paragraph 3). Such payment, if any, shall be
made annually to Holdings or GRDM after the June 1 debt service payment on the
Bonds. If a partial payment is made by the Authority because of insufficient available
Authority Annual Tax Increment Revenues, the Authority shall make additional
payments toward the remaining amount from additional remaining Authority Annual Tax
Increment Revenues it receives after payment of the Prior Priority Items and any
additional Professional Fees and Costs until all of the amounts, for which submissions
have been made, have been fully paid to Holdings or GRDM or to December 31, 2043,
whichever occurs first.

4, Adjustments. If, due to an appeal of any tax assessment or reassessment of any
portion of the Property or for any other reason the Authority is required to reimburse any
Authority Tax Increment Revenues to the City or any other tax levying unit of government, the
Authority may deduct the amount of any such reimbursement, including interest and penalties,
from any amounts due and owing Holdings or GRDM. If all amounts due Holdings or GRDM
under this Agreement have been fully paid or the Authority is no longer obligated to make any
further payments to Holdings or GRDM, the Authority shall invoice Holdings and GRDM for
the amount of such reimbursement and Holdings or GRDM shall pay the Authority such
invoiced amount within 30 days of Holdings’ and GRDM’s receipt of the invoice. Amounts
invoiced and paid to the Authority by Holdings or GRDM pursuant to this paragraph shall be
reinstated as Holdings Eligible Costs for which Holdings and GRDM shall have the opportunity
to be reimbursed in accordance with the terms, conditions and limitations of this Agreement.

-5-

GRAPIDS 60856-254 320230v6



Nothing in this Agreement shall limit the right of Holdings or GRDM to appeal any tax
assessment.

5. Completion of Project. The Project was substantially complete on
December 31, 2013.

6. Interpretation. This Agreement shall not be amended or modified except in
writing signed by the parties. It shall not be affected by any course of dealing and the waiver of
any breach shall not constitute a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same or any other
provision.

7. Assignment; Binding Effect. This Agreement and the rights and obligations
under this Agreement shall not be assigned or otherwise transferred by any party without the
consent of the other party, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, provided, however,
Holdings or GRDM may assign its interest in this Agreement to an affiliate without the prior
written consent of the Authority, provided, any such assignee shall acknowledge to the Authority
in writing on or prior to the effective date of such assignment its obligations upon assignment
under this Agreement. As used in this paragraph, “affiliate” means any corporation, company,
partnership, limited liability company, trust, sole proprietorship or other individual or entity
which (a) is owned or controlled by Holdings or GRDM, (b) owns or controls Holdings or
GRDM or (c) is under common ownership or control with Holdings or GRDM. This Agreement
shall be binding upon any successors or permitted assigns of the parties.

8. Term. This Agreement shall terminate the earlier of the date when all payments
and reimbursements required under this Agreement have been made or December 31, 2043.

WHEREFORE, this Agreement has been executed as of the date first written above.
CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS BROWNFIELD
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

By:

Terry Nicholas, Chairperson

GRAND RAPIDS DOWNTOWN
MARKET, INC.

By:
Mimi K. Fritz, President

GRAPIDS 60856-254 320230v6



GRAND RAPIDS DOWNTOWN
MARKET HOLDINGS, LLC

By:

Mimi K. Fritz, Manager

GRAPIDS 60856-254 320230v6



EXHIBIT A

IDENTIFICATION OF PROPERTY

Property Address: 435 lonia Ave S.W.
Grand Rapids, Michigan

Tax Parcel No.: 41-13-36-227-018
Legal Description:

Part of McConnell’s Addition, part of C.H. Taylor’s Addition, part of Tanner’s
Addition, and part of the Northeast 1/4, Section 36, T7N, R12W, City of Grand
Rapids, Kent County, Michigan, described as: Beginning at the Southeast
corner of Lot 1, Block 2, Tanner’s Addition (Liber 1 of Plats, Page 37), said
point being the intersection of the West R.O.W. line of lonia Avenue (66.0 feet
wide) and the North R.O.W. line of Logan Street (66.0 feet wide); thence
North 88°44°07” West 278.00 feet along the North line of Logan Street to the
Southwest corner of Lot 6, Block 2, Tanner’s Addition; thence North
00°17°00” West 60.00 feet along the West line of said Lot 6; thence North
88°44°07” West 44.67 feet to the Easterly R.O.W. line of Highway US-131;
thence North 02°49°52” East 20.53 feet along said R.O.W. line; thence
Northeasterly 59.47 feet along said R.O.W. line on a 3917.32 foot radius curve
to the right, the chord of which bears North 16°06°53” East 59.47 feet; thence
North 16°32°57” East 229.15 feet along said R.O.W. line; thence Northeasterly
240.75 feet along said R.O.W. line on a 2513.12foot radius curve to the left,
the chord of which bears North 13°48°17” East 240.66 feet to the South
R.O.W. line of Wealthy Street (66 feet wide, as platted); thence South
88°44°09” East 180.95 feet along the South line of Wealthy Street to the
Northeast corner of Lot 14, McConnell’s Addition (Liber 36 of Plats, Page 18),
said point being the intersection of the South R.O.W. line of Wealthy Street
(66 feet wide, as platted) and the West R.O.W. line of lonia Avenue (66 feet
wide); thence South 00°10°16” East 594.15 feet along the West line of lonia
Avenue to the Place of Beginning.



EXHIBIT B

PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST PAYMENTS ON BONDS

Total Principal
Date Principal Interest and Interest
06/12/2012 $0 $0 $0
12/01/2012 0 35,941.84 35,941.84
06/01/2013 0 38,281.25 38,281.25
12/01/2013 0 38,281.25 38,281.25
06/01/2014 0 38,281.25 38,281.25
12/01/2014 0 38,281.25 38,281.25
06/01/2015 100,000 38,281.25 138,281.25
12/01/2015 0 37,281.25 37,281.25
06/01/2016 100,000 37,281.25 137,281.25
12/01/2016 0 36,281.25 36,281.25
06/01/2017 105,000 36,281.25 141,281.25
12/01/2017 0 35,231.25 35,231.25
06/01/2018 105,000 35,231.25 140,231.25
12/01/2018 0 34,181.25 34,181.25
06/01/2019 110,000 34,181.25 144,181.25
12/01/2019 0 32,531.25 32,531.25
06/01/2020 110,000 32,531.25 142,531.25
12/01/2020 0 30,881.25 30,881.25
06/01/2021 115,000 30,881.25 145,881.25
12/01/2021 0 29,156.25 29,156.25
06/01/2022 120,000 29,156.25 149,156.25
12/01/2022 0 26,756.25 26,756.25
06/01/2023 125,000 26,756.25 151,756.25
12/01/2023 0 24,256.25 24,256.25
06/01/2024 130,000 24,256.25 154,256.25
12/01/2024 0 21,981.25 21,981.25
06/01/2025 135,000 21,981.25 156,981.25
12/01/2025 0 19,618.75 19,618.75
06/01/2026 135,000 19,618.75 154,618.75
12/01/2026 0 17,256.25 17,256.25
06/01/2027 140,000 17,256.25 157,256.25
12/01/2027 0 14,718.75 14,718.75
06/01/2028 145,000 14,718.75 159,718.75
12/01/2028 0 12,090.63 12,090.63
06/01/2029 155,000 12,090.63 167,090.63
12/01/2029 0 9,281.25 9,281.25
06/01/2030 160,000 9,281.25 169,281.25
12/01/2030 0 6,281.25 6,281.25
06/01/2031 165,000 6,281.25 171,281.25
12/01/2031 0 3,187.50 3,187.50
06/01/2032 170,000 3,187.50 173,187.50
Total $2,325,000 $1,009,291.85 $3,334,291.85

B-1




EXHIBIT C

REVISED AMENDMENT TO THE CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS BROWNFIELD
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY BROWNFIELD PLAN FOR
GRAND RAPIDS URBAN MARKET HOLDINGS, LLC

August 18, 2011
Summary of Project

A brownfield plan was originally approved on November 10, 2010 for the renovation by
Grand Rapids Urban Market Holdings, LLC (“Holdings™) of warehouse buildings located at 435
lIonia Ave SW and 109 Logan St. SW, Grand Rapids, Michigan (the “Property™) into an urban
market including multi-vendor space for fresh food markets with both a year-round. indoor
component and space for an outdoor scasonal farmer's market as well as restaurants and other
food services, educational facilities, food processing and production facilities (such as a kitchen
incubator), a rooftop greenhouse and possibly other mixed-use components such as crafts, retail
shops, residential units, offices, etc. (the “Project”). Holdings now plans to demolish the existing
buildings and construct a new building to be used for the same purposes. The Project will
remove several old, derelict buildings on a contaminated site in the downtown area and will
construct a new building. The Project will create new permanent jobs as well as a significant
number of construction jobs. The initial anticipated investment is approximately $30 million.

Basis of Eligibility

The Property is contaminated with volatile organic compounds associated with gasoline,
polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons, and metals in the soil and groundwater in excess of generic
residential Part 201 cleanup criteria, thus making the Property an “cligible property” as defined
in Part 201 of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act (“"NREPA™). A
summary of the environmental conditions from the Baseline Environmental Site Assessment
prepared by NTH Consultants, Ltd. dated January 31, 2008 is attached as Exhibit D.

Required Elements of Brownfield Plan

1. A description of costs intended to be paid for with tax increment revenues.
(MCLA 125.2663(1)(a))

Holdings will seck brownfield tax increment revenues for eligible expenses from county
taxes, excluding taxes to pay debt service, community college taxes, excluding taxes to pay debt
service, school operating taxes and state education tax millage for eligible activities at the
Property to finance the cost of demolition, site preparation, public infrastructure improvements
and MDEQ and MEGA work plan preparation as well as preparation and development of this
brownficld plan revised amendment totaling $5,332,151".

" Represents reimbursement to Holdings for eligible costs at an estimated $3,270.530 and payment of $2,061,621
estimated debt service on Authority bonds to be issued in the principal amount of $2,325.000 to pay for other
eligible costs (the Grand Rapids Downtown Development Authority will pay an additional $1,500,000 of the debt
service on such bonds).

C-1



Table I below presents estimated costs of eligible activities of the project which qualify
for reimbursement from brownfield tax increment revenues.

Table 1 — Eligible Activities Cost Estimate for Cost Estimate for City
Task Holdings

1. Baseline environmental assessment activities 510,000 $0

2. Site Preparation $ 673,000 S0

3. Demolition $ 509,000 S0

4. Lead or asbestos abatement $ 110,000 30

5. Infrastructure improvements $ 856,200 $4,725,000

6. Due care/additional response activities $ 664,000 S0

Sub-total §2,822,200 $4,725,000

7. Contingencies (15%) $423,330 $0

8. Preparation and development of brownfield plan $ 20,000 50
and MDEQ and MEGA work plans

9. MDEQ and MEGA work plan review $ 5,000 $0

TOTAL $ 3,270,530 $ 4,725,000

TOTAL PROJECT ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES

$ 7,995,530

*Includes public water and sanitary sewer public infrastructure costs at an estimated cost of $2,400,000 o be funded from the City of
Grand Rapids water and sanitary sewer enterprise funds and for which reimbursement from brownfield tax increment revenues will not
be sought. Brownfield tax increment revenues will be used to pay debt service in the estimated amount of $2,061.621 on Authority
bonds issued in the principal amount of $2,325.000 for cligible costs. Additional debt service on such bonds will be paid by the Grand

Rapids Downtown Development Authority in the amount of $1,500,000.

2. A brief summary of the eligible activities that are proposed for each eligible

property. (MCLA 125.2663(1)(b)}

"Eligible activities" are defined in the Act as meaning one or more of the following: (i)
baseline environmental assessment activities; (i1) due care activities; and (iii) additional response
activities. In addition, in qualified local governmental units such as the City of Grand Rapids, the
Act includes the following additional activities under the definition of "eligible activities": (A)
infrastructure improvements that directly benefit eligible property; (B) demolition of structures
that is not response activity under Part 201 of NREPA; (C) lead or asbestos abatement; and (D)
site preparation that is not a response activity under Part 201 of NREPA.

The cost of eligible activities, including site design and engineering for said eligible
activities, is estimated in Table 1 above and includes the following:

C-2




Baseline environmental assessment activities. Baseline environmental assessment
activities will be conducted on the Property.

Site Preparation. Various site preparation activities will be required including
construction staking, clearing, rough and final grading/land balancing, excavation
of footings, removal of existing retaining walls and foundations, soil disposal,
dewatering, alternative green storm water management, etc.

Demolition. The existing buildings will be demolished to prepare the site for its
new use. In addition, certain existing site improvements will be required to be
removed prior to redevelopment.

Lead or asbestos abatement. Due to the age of the buildings, lead or asbestos may
be encountered and will need to be properly removed and disposed of from the
Property.

Infrastructure Improvements. Infrastructure improvements will be made in
connection with the project within the public right-of-way, including grading,
storm water system, curbs, drive approaches, sidewalks, pavers, site furnishings,
landscaping, snow melt system, streetscape improvements made by the City,
which include the following: brick Ionia Ave S.W. (Buckley St. S.W. to Wealthy
St. S.W.) and Logan Street S.W. (Division Ave. S.W. to lonia Ave. S.W.),
McConnell Street S.W. (Division Ave. S.W. to Ionia Ave. S.W.) repaving,
ornamental lighting, burial of electric line and replacement of water and sanitary
sewer lines in the streets referenced above.

Due Care/Additional Response Activities. Holdings will be required to comply
with the requirements of Section 20107a of Part 201 of NREPA, to exercise due
care with respect to the existing contamination, prevent exacerbation of the
contamination, and to take reasonable precautions against reasonably foreseeable
actions or omissions of third parties. To satisfy this requirement, a due care plan
will be prepared and contaminated soil will be removed as necessary.

Contingency. A 15% contingency factor is included to accommodate unexpected
conditions during the course of the project.

Brownfield Plan Preparation and Development. Costs incurred to prepare and
develop this brownfield plan and proposed work plan, as required per Act 381 of
1996, as amended.

MDEQ and MEGA Work Plan Review. Administrative review fees
associated with work plan review.




3. An estimate of the captured taxable value and tax increment revenues for
each year of the Plan from each parcel of eligible property and in the aggregate.
(MCLA 125.2663(1)(c))

An estimate of the brownfield property tax capture for tax increment financing is attached
as Exhibit B.

4. The method by which the costs of the Plan will be financed, including a
description of any advances made or anticipated to be made for the costs of the Plan
from the City. (MCLA 125.2663(1)(d))

Costs of Plan will be financed by Holdings except a portion of the public infrastructure
work will be paid for through a bond issue of the Authority, the City of Grand Rapids (“City™) or
DDA and will be paid through reimbursement from the available tax increment from brownfield
and DDA TIF capture. Tax increment revenues will be used first to repay principal and interest
on the bond with any remaining available capture being used to reimburse Holdings for their
cligible activities. The bond will be used to cover the costs outlined above (see 2e. above). The
City will use water and sewer funds to cover the cost of the water and sanitary sewer
improvements that are estimated to be $2.4 million. In addition, the DDA will contribute an
additional $150,000 from its funds for improvements that are not covered by the bond issue. A
projected repayment schedule is attached as Exhibit B.

5. The maximum amount of the note or bonded indebtedness to be incurred, if
any. (MCLA 125.2663(1)(e))

The Authority will issue bonds for a portion of the Project {i.e. street improvements).
The estimated principal amount of such bonds may be up to $2.325 million.

6. The duration of the Plan, which shall not exceed the lesser of (1) the period
required to pay for the eligible activities from tax increment revenues plus the
period of capture authorized for the local site remediation revolving fund or (2) 30
years. (MCLA 125.2663(1)(f))

The estimated duration of this brownfield plan is 32 years. It is estimated that the project
will be completed in one and a half years and that it could take up to 30 vears following the
beginning date of tax increment capture. Therefore, the first year of tax increment capture will
be 2013 and the Plan will remain in place until all eligible investment is completed and all
eligible activities are reimbursed, but in no event will the Plan exceed the maximum duration
provided for in (MCLA 125.2663(1)()). In addition, funds may be captured for up to five years
(if available) to fund the local site remediation revolving fund.

7. An estimate of the impact of tax increment financing on the revenues of all
taxing jurisdictions in which the Property is located. (MCLA 125.2663(1)(g))

An estimate of the real property tax capture is attached as Exhibit B.

4

Cc-4



8. A legal description of each parcel of eligible property to which the Plan
applies, a map showing the locations and dimensions of each eligible property, a
statement of the characteristics that qualify the property as eligible property and a
statement of whether personal property is included as part of the eligible property.
(MCLA 125.2663(1)(h))

a. See legal description at Exhibit A.
b. See location and site map at Exhibit C.
c. Characteristics of Property: The buildings on the eligible property were

constructed over time beginning as early as 1937 and have historically
been used for produce and other warehouse purposes,

d. Personal Property: Personal property is included as part of the eligible
property.
9. An estimate of the number of persons residing on each eligible property to

which the Plan applies and the number of families and individuals to be displaced, if
any. (MCLA 125.2663(1)(i))

There are no persons residing on this Property and, therefore, no families or individuals
will be displaced.

10. A plan for establishing priority for the relocation of persons displaced by
implementation of the Plan, if applicable. (MCLA 125.2663(1)(j))

This Section is inapplicable to this site as there are no persons residing on this Property.
11.  Provision for the costs of relocating persons displaced by implementation of
the Plan, and financial assistance and other reimbursement of expenses, if any.
(MCLA 125.2663(1)(k))

This Section is inapplicable to this site as there are no persons residing on this Property.

12. A strategy for compliance with the Michigan Relocation Assistance Act, if
applicable. (MCLA 125.2663(1)(1))

This Section is inapplicable to this site as there are no persons residing on this Property.

13. A description of the proposed use of the local site remediation revolving
fund. (MCLA 125.2663(1)(m))

The revolving fund is not anticipated to be used for the project but may be used for
expenses allowed under Act 381 for other brownfield projects within the City.

5

C-5



14.  Other material that the Authority or the City Commission considers
pertinent. (MCLA 125.2663(1)(n))

This project will remove old buildings in the downtown arca and will construct a new
building which is expected to create a dynamic downtown place to attract diverse residents and
visitors, strengthen and celebrate the City's local food system, catalyze redevelopment in the
area, provide opportunities to independent entrepreneurs, promote healthy lifestyles and create a
model of sustainable development. The project is expected to add 200 new jobs and increase the
City’s tax base.

Michigan Business Tax Credit
The project has already applied for and received a Michigan Business Tax (“MBT")
credit for the project equal to 20% of its eligible investment pursuant to Act 36 of the Public Acts

ot Michigan of 2007. Holdings anticipates to begin the eligible investment in Fall 2011 and be
completed in Spring 2013,

5491359-3

6

C-6



Exhibit A

Property Description

Property Address: 435 lonia Ave SW
Grand Rapids, Michigan

Tax Parcel No.: 41-13-36-227-015
Legal Description:

Part of McConnell’s Addition, part of C.H. Taylor's Addition, part of Tanner’s Addition,
and part of the Northeast 1/4, Section 36, T7TN, R12W, City of Grand Rapids, Kent
County, Michigan, described as: Beginning at the Northeast corner of Lot 14,
McConnell’s Addition (Liber 36 of Plats, Page 18), said point being the intersection of
the South R.O.W. line of Wealthy Street (66 feet wide, as platted) and the West R.O.W.
line of Tonia Avenue (66 feet wide); thence South 00° 10° 16” East 594.15 feet along the
West line of [onia Avenue to the Southeast corner of Lot 1, Block 2, Tanner’s Addition
(Liber 1 of Plats, Page 37), said point being the intersection of the West R.O.W. line of
lonia Avenue (66 feet wide) and the North R.O.W. line Logan Street (66.0 feet wide);
thence North 88° 447 07" West 144.80 feet along the North line of Logan Street; thence
North 03° 54° 28" West 64.12 feet; thence North 14° 46° 28" West 70.79 feet; thence
South 88° 44’ 077 East 17.84 feet along the South line of C.H. Taylor’s Addition (Liber 2
of Plats , Page 47); thence North 14° 357 20 West 129.00 feet; thence North 06° 47" 59”
West 24.33 feet; thence North 88° 58 53 West 16.93 feet; thence Northerly 54.08 feet
along a 279.50 foot radius curve to the right, the chord of which bears North 01° 027 537
East 54.00 feet; thence North 88° 56" 07 West 7.58 feet; thence South 23° 217 53 West
58.37 feet; thence South 16° 187 53 West 153.23 feet; thence North 88° 44 07 West
32.72 feet along the South line of C.H. Taylor’s Addition to the Easterly R.O.W. line of
Highway US-131; thence Northeasterly 6.25 feet along said R.O.W. line on a 3917.32
foot radius curve to the right, the chord of which bears North 16° 30° 14 East 6.25 feet;
thence North 16 32° 577 East 229.15 feet along said R.O.W. line; thence Northeasterly
240.75 feet along said R.O.W. line on a 2513.12 foot radius curve to the left, the chord of
which bears North 13° 48" 17" East 240.66 feet to the South R.O.W. line of Wealthy
Street (66 feet wide as platted); thence South 88° 44° 09 East 180.95 feet along the South
line of Wealthy Street to the Place of Beginning.

Property Address: 109 Logan St. SW
Grand Rapids, Michigan

Tax Parcel No.: 41-13-36-227-017 (formerly 41-13-36-227-013, 41-13-36-227-
006, 41-13-36-227-005)

C-7



Legal Description:

Part of C.H. Taylor’s Addition, part of Tanner’s Addition, and part of the Northeast 1/4,
Section 36, T7N, R12W, City of Grand Rapids, Kent County, Michigan, described as:
Commencing at the Southeast corner of Lot 1, Block 2, Tanner’'s Addition (Liber 1 of
Plats, Page 37), said point being the intersection of the West R.O.W. line of Ionia Avenue
(66 feet wide) and the North R.O.W. line of Logan Street (66.0 feet wide); thence North
88° 44 07" West 144.80 feet along the North line of Logan Street to the Place of
Beginning of this description; thence North 88° 44’ 07" West 133.20 feet along the North
line of Logan Street to the Southwest corner of Lot 6, Block 2, Tanner’s Addition; thence
North 00° 17" 00” West 60.00 feet along the West line of said Lot 6: thence North 88° 44°
07" West 44.67 feet to the Easterly R.O.W. line of Highway US-131; thence North 02°
49 52 East 20.53 feet along said R.O.W. line; thence Northeasterly 53.22 feet along said
R.O.W. line on a 3917.32 foot radius curve to the right, the chord of which bears North
16° 04’ 08" East 53.22 feet: thence South 88° 44’ 07" East 32.72 feet along the South line
of C.H. Taylor’s Addition (Liber 2 of Plats, Page 47); thence North 16° 18" 53™ East
153.23 feet; thence North 23° 21" 53" East 58.37 feet; thence South 88° 56 07 East 7.58
feet; thence Southerly 54.08 feet along a 279.50 foot radius curve to the left, the chord of
which bears South 01 02" 53 West 54.00 feet; thence South 88° 58" 53" East 16.93 feet;
thence South 06° 47" 59" East 24.33 feet; thence South 14° 35° 20 East 129.00 feet;
thence North 88“ 44" 07" West 17.84 feet along the South line of C.H. Taylor’s Addition;
thence South 14° 46° 28" East 70.79 feet thence South 03° 54 28” East 64.12 feet to the
Place of Beginning.

C-8



Exhibit B

TIF Table



LEC0G8'CZS ZBLEGOES ZEGOGZE § 0BG BSPES 196'6G9ES JPODYBES 259090F S 6.6'652¥ ZEQ'BSF'FS €19'959'% S
SPp'e0Z S 054202 850'Z0Z__§ 1.E710Z § 989002 500°00¢ 228661 £69'861 LB6 /6L 69Z2%9 $
POP'E0L S 8YE'ZOL PEPZOL S ZEZ6'LOL § vl LOL 206°001 0¥ 001 Z06'66 066 - $
08666 S Z0866 § 52966 $ 6¥F66 $ 2i2'66 86066 2686 § 15.'96 8/5'86 6929 S
ZBL'EG0'CS ZEG'9SZES 0658SGP'E $ 196659'CS Lv9'098'CS ZSU090FS BLEBSZYSE ZEYBSK'Y €19'959'F$ Z8B'0ZL¥ S
£26'GLY 768605 SPLEPS S €8FLLG § 90LLL9 S GLO9¥P9 § 010°8.9 262 LLL WovvbL $ 8LG44L S
696 £E E£GBEE 8EL€E $ €296 S 60SEE $ GAE'EE § Z8Z'EE 691'EE L50°€E S LELOL
9/2'21 68L L1 €01 L1 $ 8l0ZL S €£69L $ 6vEOL § $9L0L 18991 248591 -
¥69'9L #9991  § ¥E99L $ S09'9L S 94691 $ 9vG9lL  § LG9l 88¥'91 09¢¥'9L LELOL $
268'606 SPLEFS $§ E8PLLS 3 90LLL9 $ SLO'PPO § 0L0'BL9 § TETLLL S LOV'WKL § BISLLL 6¥2'88L S
0BE£'G9.¢S  0SZ'9LBZ LLL'Z98Z § 129806CS 0ZL'956'ZS BI0'0O00ES ZIBGPOES VZL'BBOE 0LL62LES 1EYBIZE §
098°05 1266 LSyor S 66¥ i § 6¥E'ER Y68 G¥ €9LEr S 9ra'op 298'6EL S - $
052'918'Z 1L1°298°2 1Z9'806'2 § 0ZL'9S6'ZS 990'000'€S Z96'GPO'ES ¥ZLBB0ES 0LL6ZL'E LE9'6Y9ZES LEQBIZ'E §
110'Z88'1 $ G95'800Z8 BYZBSEE £B5BbP 28 680989 Z$ GEE'9E8CS ZPBELOES 88Z'C0Z'E SoF'pBE'S LP9'GBE'E S
$G598L S €89'06L $ 9rE68L 96¥'/8l $ JyZ'0BL $ J0G/8BL $ iv¥6BL LLL'LEL L2116 086'GL S
§95'890'ZS 8PTHSTTS €65 8PP 680997 GEE'OZR'ZS <ZVE'CLO'ES BBZEOZES GOV'VEE'E LP9'GRY'E 129'195'¢ §
OrL0ZL $ LEL0ZL $ /E56LL $ Ov6'BLL § ZpE'BLL $ 95L°ALL § 89LALL $ €85'9LL § 0009LL § - $
PL9'9LL $ 99¥'OLL § BSZ9LL  $ ¥S0'OLL § 8¥E'SLL $ PPO'GLL $ LpP'GLL S BEZ'SLL § BEO'SLL $ 000'GL  §
12828128 JGR'GYE LS ¥S880LL § 8G0°CLIF LS vO0'8EZ'L S 698'C00LS 69¥0LL $ 098'LES § BE0'90E $ 000'GL 8
VIP'LEZ S €09'96T § O9B6L'GEZ $ VBE'¥EZ § GBL'PEZ $ OOP'EEZ § 609262 $ Z28'LEC § BEO'LEEZ $ 000GL S
00005, $ 000'G/9 $ 000009 $ 000GZS § 0000SP $ O00GLE $ 00000E $ 00022 $ 000OSL $ 000GL §
0006, § 000'GL § 000°GL $ 000G, $ 000G, § 000G, $ O000GL § 000S. $ 000S. $ 000G §
- § - $ _ - [ 8 - §_ - S __ - § - $ - $ $
- $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - S N $ - 3 - $ - S
B0Z6GL & Z91'Lkl § 90Z¢fcl $ Ove'SOL § €968 § G868 § SiZ'eS  § €9/vE  $ 8EElL S - S
9r0'8L  § 996'LL § 998°LL $ LL2°21 S 8BYLL  § 009LL S ZISLL  § SsZYLL § BEElL S - S
09¥ 08l S 6GS64L $ 299841 S L/2//L S EBROZL S 000941 S LZV'GAL $ JvERIL S 9uEEiL $ - $
ZER0E0GS PLL'G00GS 12/°086'v § €GB'GG6 S BOLLEGPS 9BPO06'FS L8618 P S 0DLOUGET S VSECER VS - $
B/9'8¥0'S  095'€20'C 95’866 6B6O'EL6'Y VS BFE Y  ZETPC6'FY  CEBGE8 Y OSY'GLB'Y 00Z'LG8'y  9¥e’LL  §
9¥B'LL § 9r8'LL § 9vRLL $ ove'LL  § 9FB'LL S 9¥8LL § 9vELL $ OpBULL $§ o¥BLL § ovR'LL §
(44114 [¥4i}4 [F{iF4 6L0Z 8102 Loz 9L0z Si0g vi0Z €10T

T10Z/91/8
WU (Peyiy (AQ pasedaig

005'6€Z°Z$ Buijelo) sjuawanosduwy
ainjoniysesu) A9 Joj Juawked sapnjou) puog,

souejeg
Juawasinquilay |ejol

juawesinquiay ajels

Juswiasinguiiay [eao

aaueleg

JuswasINguIay [ejo ]
JUBWBSINGWIEY 2)eIS
JuswasINquiley [0

JuUBWASINQWISY DIAW

uswied 4|1 Jayy ang asuejeg
wawled 4|1 sedoanag
juswasinquiay 411 sedojareq

£an( aduejeg puog Aianoy ejaibia
Auawihed puog AAnoy 8jqiby3
Auswasinquiay puog AIANDY 8jqibli3

(21e15) Wwawhed |edioung
juswesINquiay 4|1 91eIg

{1e207) wawAed jedidund
JuswesINquIey vaa/dlL Pleyumolg B30

JusWssINgLUIay 10} a|qejieAy aAlelnwng
JUBWASINGUIIaY 10} B|CEJIBAY [E}0 L

{1e207) vaa wawkhed aanenwing
(1e207) vaa wewked jejoL

puny Buiajoaay aanejnwng
{AjuQ |e207) puny Buinjoaay |edo
pun4 Bulajoasy jeooT |ejo]
894 ulwpy Ao aalenwng
(AjuQ 12207 %01) 8oy ulwpy AND
894 uoljens|uiwpy 19
playumoig aimyde? [ejo )
anjep ajgexe} ajqeinjded |ejof
juawaaocidwi| Jaye anjep ajqexe]
anjep ajqexe] juaunsy
sey) amde) 11

1oy ueqan spidey puean

C-10



0069/, § 88% /86 SyEJ/BLLS G/¥P90y LS 188 FIOLS 695728'1% Ov5620Z% 8BJGEZZS 6EELPPZS ¥6L OPIZS
8850LZ § /58602 0E1'602 90% 802 889202 126°902 862'902Z 165602 S¥8'¥0Z £rLv0Z §
vLL80L § 2E2'80L 169401 #5101 619901 £80°90L 955'60L 0£0'601 906 0L £86'E0L _§
vL810L § 92910l $§ Owb'LOL £52°101 690°L0L 88001 204001 125'00L 6EL 001 pgl'o0L_$
8886 § GPEUBL'LS G/PO0F LS LB8VLOLS 695 ZZ81LS O¥S 62078 BBLSEZZS 6GVELYFZS ¥BL'OPITS LELO0SBZS
6lLL6EL S 188'PIl 126661 0¥8'¥ET 8EQ 692 91E¥0E pL8'8EE ELEELE ¥YE9LO0Y § JE8'LbY §
Z9LGE  § OFP0'GE 616 FE 86.vE 89 855 ¥ BER ¥E VZE'PE £0Z 7€ 980!

298l L2081 186'21 L6821 2081 €11 L 52941 18§ [ 792,

0001 89691 LEG'IL 906 91 9/8'91L 589 rl8gl ¥8L'9 ¥52°91 ¥Z.'9

188'P9L § LZ666L S O¥BYEZ S BEQ69Z § 9LEWOE § WIBGLE § ELEELE § PEYLOP S Le8lbY $ £Z6'GLY S
09/.°/222$ 285V8TC$ 68Z2vE'ZS BLZ'9BE'TS 291L'2Sv'Z$ PEE'SOSZS BEL955°ZS L5L'0L9Z8 ¥/L'299'CTS OBE'FLLTS
228'9S L0425 § 686'ES 068’65 $ /9L'ES 508 05 BLOPS § 21925  § 909°L§ L10'ls  §
Z8G'¥8C ¢S BB ZPECS BLZ9BECS LOL'ZGPTS FEL'GOGZS BEL'9SGZS LSLOLYZS PLLZ99TS 08EVLLTS 0BE'G9LZS
- $ 8Z688L § B8LL9/E § 6/1'996 $ €6¥ES. § E6OZPE § LL¥EEL LS GBOOZELS 0GEL0SLS €6L¥E9LS
82688 $ 06L/8L $ 19006L $ Sle'/8L $ 00268L $ G206l § 8/098L § 65248l S €¥pUBL $ 6lZ/BL S
926'88L § 8LL'9/ § B2L'995 § €6V'ESL $ £69ZVE § LIPECL'LS SB0DZELS O0SELOS LS E6LVEILS LL0'Z8ELS
9€6'9ZL § €0£'92L $ TL9'6ZL S S¥0'SZL § LZ¥'PZL § 00B'€ZL § L8L'EZL § £95'2ZL § GSSELZL S SRELZL §
vi88LL § ¥BSBLL $ L/E'8LL S BSLBLL $ SPELLL $ BZLLLL $ 9IGZLL $ S0EZLL $ EBOLLL $ p8ROLL S
Z1Gz09v$ 29/9S56 %% G98LLLPS 9lBL98ES ZI9¥7Z9ES OvZZBEES /1. 0PLES 0Z0D0BZS BFLODGEZS 00L LZPES
0SL'6bZ S L68VPZ § BYOPYE $ pOZ'EVZ S 99E'ZPZ § 625 LPC S L69'0vZ S TL8'BEZ § 8KO'6EZ § 6ZZ8EZ S
000'00S'L$ 000'SZ¥'LS OO00SE'L$ O000'G/Z'LS 000°00Z'L$ 000'GEL'LS 0000SO'LS 0O0G/6 § 000006 § 000'GZ8 §
0006, $ 000G. $ 0OO'S. $ OQOO'S. § ODO'S. $ 000S. $ 000G § 000S. $ O00O'S. $ 000SL S
- $ - $ - $ - I $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - 3
- $ - H - $ - S - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $
vZLvYE $ ZG4'GZE § ¥/8'00C § 1609887 § ZOP69Z § 908'0SZ S €E0E'ZEZ $ ZHYELZ § £4GG6L $ GYELLL §
zi6'8L  § 88’8l $ £8L%L $ 6898L $ 9658 & €058 § Lib'8L § 6LE8L § 8ZZ8L § lELBL §
ZziegL S G/.88l S Ze8/Bl $ £ABOBL $ 296G8L § 2P0GBL $ BOL¥BL $ L6LEHl S 9/278l $ 09818l §

LZ0BBZ'SS 6L9Z9ZGS BPLOECGS 90Z0LZGS 86L¥8LGS LIEBGLGS GOSZELGS Lv6O0LGS Ghp LBOSS G/095055
L98'00E'S  GOV'08Z'S  vBLPSCS  vG0 822G pY0Z0ZG €9V 9LL'S  LLPOSL'G  [8L%ZLG  16C 660G  LZBELOS
9¥BLL S 9¥8UL S 9¥BUL  $ O¥BUL  § ovB/L  § O¥BLL S 9vBLL S 9vELL S ObELL S ovR4L §
zEoz (X174 0t0Z 8202 gz0T 0T 3z0T Sz02 vzoz tZ0z

110Z/91/8
WL (seyoy (Aq pasedaly

005'6£2'2$ Bulejol syuawanoidwy
ainonnseyu] A9 104 Juswhed sapnjoul puog,

asueleg

Juswasinquiay |ejo]
JusLwasINquIay djels
Juswasinquiay |edo]

Juswesinquiay voOIw

asuejeg

JuswasINquIay [BJ0 L
uswasinquiay ajelg
jualesInguiay |2307

Juswesinquiey DIAW

wawdhed 41 Jeyy ang aauejeg
awdhed 4|1 Jadoanaq
Juswesinguiay 411 Jedojareg

eng aoueleg puog Aanoy elqibiy3
Auawhed puog Aoy a1qibi3
Auswasinquiey puog Aaoy o1qibi3

(a1e18) JuawiAey [edidulid
Juawasinquiey 411 deIg

(1eo07) Juswiked jedidug
juswasinquiay yaa/diL plaumolg jesaoy

Juawasinquiay 0} alqe|leAy aAne|INWND
Juswasinquiay 0} a|qe|leAy |ejo]

(1e207) wvaaq yuswhed aaneinwng
(12007) vaq uewAed |ejo)

pund Buiajoaay aAfe|nwing
(AjuQ 1e207) pung Buiajoaay jeso
pung Buiajoaay |eao |ejo
894 ujwpy A1 eaneinwng
(Ajug 12207 %01) 924 ulwpy AuD
@84 uonensiulwpy A1y
playumoig ainydes [e1o]
anjep ejqexe| s|qeinides |ejo|
juawanoldwy Joye anjep ajqexe]
anjeA a|gqexe| uaLngy
sy aamde) 1L

1Ay ueqaq) spridey pueas

C-11



- $ - - 8 - s - § GZZrPE S BYI¥EL GZG ELE LG0°Z8Y /78629

- s - - s - S Gzzye & pz00GL _$ 9/26yL § Zesev. § 0BLipL S £50ZvL

- s - - s - § 9096L S 08GvlL S v/60LL § 6lrOLL § 89360L S 0Ze60L

- s - - s - $ blOVL & Gevec & c€o0eet ZiLee 726 L8 €ELLE

- s - - s - § Gzz¥e § 6vvBL § GZSEEE S [S02%v § Y8620 S 0069/Z

- s - - s - s - vi[S S po/0f S 68955 65008 991 G0l

- s - - s - S vilS 0505z § Gz6bz S 008 ¥Z L9ve €55 ¥Z

- s - - - S pize 22981 S 6258l 5 Jtvsl Sve gl £528L

- s - s - - $ ivvz & Jzb9 & GBEG  § bOEO 7669 0029

- s - s - i $ /5§ pO/0C $ 68958 $ 68v08 § 99LG0L § 6LLGIL
TPl S 256159 & J9GO0EB S 06280045 07hG8L 1S 0BOIOE LS VGLOEGLS GG OLLLS /89688 LS VGLUS02S
01S'6LL S 6L9'8LL S £2LZlL $ Oc89/L § vS6G/L § vI0G/L § LOZwL § Zerell S Joveil S 9094l S
756159 § L950E8 § 082800 1§ 92LG8L LS 0B0LOE LS VGLOSS LS GGEOLL LS LB9€88 1S ¥GLOS0CS 09L17228
- - - s - 3 - s - s - 5 - - s - s
- - - s - s - 5 - s - s - . s - s
- - - s - s - s - s - s - - s - s
6vP'EEL § ¥BLZEL $ Lgh'zel $ LOPLEL § GOZOEL § Z5LOEL § SOS6ZL § 09882k S €LZBZL S €46720 S
90’9y § LE8'SP S c09SP § SISy § 6rLSP § ZZ5PF § @69%k S Olvkr G #SZPr S EEOFF S
0E8'/56'9$ 02€'8/1'9S GOL66653 286 128G8 OPL G¥YOGS 26l 697 GS 8LL¥6CGS /L66LLSS SBSOVBFS BLLFLLVS
0IS6LL $ GLOBLL § £CLZLL § O889LL § 956Gl § IOGLL $ LOZ¥iL § 2Zec€il S J9vZLL S 900 Lb S
- S _000005'LS 000'00S'L$ 000DOSLS 000005 LS 00000SLS 00000S LS 000005 LS 0000DSES 0000005 ES
- s - s - s - s - s - s - s - s - s - s
- 5 - s - [ s - s - s - s - s - s - 5
- s - s - s - s - s - s - s - s - s - B
65.6EG S €18'6LG S /9666y § 0ZcO0Sy § ¢/500v § Z20lyr $ 695LCr © ELZZ0V S va6Z8E & LGLEJE S
9v6'6L & Ove'6L S Ly.6L § BYOBL § 0956 S £or6L  $ OG66h § 6926+ S £916L § Z906L §
95v'66L S _19v'86L S 0/p/6L § ¥BF96l § b0GGbL § /2G¥bl § GST6L § LBSZGL S 0ED L6l

ELP0956S 099'ZES'SS OP0'SOSSS 69ISL/b'GS BIZOSPSS GZOEIrSGS 9G6'GEE'GS ZZ0BOLGS CZZZPESS GGG GLESS
652'8/5's  905'055'S  268'22§'S  SLV'S6Y'S  GL0B9K'S  LIBOWP'S Z0BELYS  89B0BC'G  BI0D9ES  LOVEEES
SvBLL 8 9v8'LL § 9p8UL S OvBLL § 9¥BUL S 9¥@LL  § 9v8'LL § O¥8AL S 9vELL & o8l §
oz woe vz 8502 §toz x0T 9507 gtz ¥50Z £E02

T10Z/91/8
WU 12eyIN (Aq pasedasg

005°6£Z'z$ Buijelo) sjuswenoidwy
ainjoniseljul A9 Joj uawked sapnjoul puog,

aoueleg

Jjuswesinquiay jejol
JuawasINquiiey ajels
juswasinquiay |exo”

JuswesINquiay YOI W

aluejeg

JusWasINquiiay €10
JuaWasINquIaY JeIS
JuBWesINquIaY B0

JuawasInquiay DIAW

awied 411 Jeyy ang asuejeg
uawdied 411 Jedoanaq
Juswasinquiay 4i1 iadojeraq

£anQ asuejeg puog AuAnoy a1qibi3
Ausuifed pueg Auanoy olqibg
Auswasinquiay puog AIABoY 81qibi3

{(a1218) JuawAed jedpuud
Juswasinquiay 411 dels

(je207) wawAed jedisuiig
juswasinguiiay yaa/diL piayumolg 207

JUBWASINGUIIaY 10} 3|ge|IBAY SAEINWNY
juawesinquiay 10} s|ge|leAy jejo|

{le207) vaa wewhey aanejnwng
{1e207) vaaq wewded jejoy

pund Buiajoaey aane|nwing
(AQluQ 1B207) pun4 BujAjoAay (€20
puny Bujajonay 8307 jejo)
294 ulwpy AND aAnenwNg
(Ajuo 18207 %01) 294 WWIPY A

$ £/9061 $ Pplayumoig aamden jejol

anjep ajqexe] ajgesmde jejo)
juawanoidwy Jeye anjep ajqexe]
anjeA a|qexe} juaung

spaey) aamyde)) fLL

IR ueqan) sprdey pueisn

C-12



- - - - - - s
- - - - 5 - s - B

- s - s - - - s

. = N = . s

= = s . = .
- g - $ - - - - s
- - s - - - s - $
0€0'262 0£0'262 0E0'26¢ 0£0'26C 0£0'Z62 0£026E S
. . B - - Zly 08l §
0EQ0'Z62 00262 0£02Z6¢ S 0E0262 DE0'Z62 yvaly $
- N - - - - 3
- - - - - - $
- - - - - - B
- s - $ - $ - s - $ BLLVEL &
- s - % - $ - $ - § £6Z9% §
Zr2 8598 ZyZ28e59% Zrz9e59% ZrZ8ESOS ZpZBEG 95 Zp28EG 9%
ZLv 08l $
- $ - § - $ - $ - $ - S
- § - s - s - 5 - s - 5
2L/ 96t § €60892 § GL0L02 § G/9efL § 1/999 & - $
61089 § B.9/9 § OvEL9 § P00L9 § L2999 § - $
G08'656_$ 508655 ¢ GOB6GS § GOBESS S GOBESS § S0B'ESS S

v’z $

298'62L'G S

9£G'G0Z_G 60SPOZ_§ 98502 G _

Z_§ 8 Zib20z_§ €9v'10Z § 8SV00Z_S
12710458 8187/9G8 0Q0Gpr9GS GEEOlOGS POE'9ESSS

ELLLYPLG
arg'LlL  $
8v02

LLL'BLLS ¥99'069 G 2SE'299'S L8L'¥EQ'S a5L'909's
9ve'LL S 9pg'sL  § 9r8sL § 9¥BLL S 9¥BLL S
Lv0T 90z S¥0z vroe £¥02

110z/91/8
3 jeeudin (Aq pasedald

005'6£Z'Z$ Buijejoy syusweanosduwy
ainyonuiselyu) Ao Joj tuawhked sapnjaul puog,

edueleg

JUaWIASINGUIBY [B)OL
JuBtLasINgUIBY 9)elS
Juswesinquiay |eso

JuaWwasINquIdy YOIW

aoueleg

uswasInquIay 1oL
JuswasIngiuey aielg
JuswasInquiay (a0

Juswasingquiiey DIAN

juawieqd 4|] 48yy anQ adsuejeg
juawAhed 4i) Jadoanag
Juswiasinquiey 411 1edojensg

.ang soueleg puog Ananoy olqibi3
Juswihed puog Aanay ejaibig
JAuawasinquiay puog Alanoy a1q1bn3

(a1e18) Wwewhed jedidulid
juswasinquiiey 4|1 aels

{1e207) Juawhed jedidung
juawasinguiay yaa/dLL pjayumolg (207

JUaWasINGIIY 10} 3|qEjIEAY SABINWND
JUBWBSINGLUISY 10) B|qB|IEAY [EJO)

{1e201) vaa uawdhed aaneinwng
{1e207) vaq uewfed jejoy

pung Buiajoasy saneinwng
{KjuQ [e207) pun4 Buiajoray |20
pund Buinjonay |es07 [elo |
924 ulwpy A9 aanenwng
(AuQ 18207 %01) 984 Uiwpy Aty
294 uonensuwpy Ay
playumolg aimdes |ejol
anjep e|gexe] ajqeinides [ejo
juawiaAcidwlf JaYe anjeA a|gexe ]
anjep sjgexe] jusuny
spey ) aamde) gL

aey ueqlq) sprdey pueis

C-13



uswasinquilay wOIW 12101 288'02L'%

WwawasinqWiay DA3W 12101 6¥2'88L §

uawasinquiay Jadojanagt 1e10] LO9'/J6Z $

puog Joj sjuawhed elog LZ9'L95'E $

amdeq alels woly sjuswied |ejoL B9FSPLE §

2imded |eooT woy sjuawihed €101 £/ 2612 §
JuBWRSINGLUIZY 10} BqejIeAY |BJ0) ZPZ BEG 9 S

aimde) 411 vad leleL 000005 L §

Wwawhed pund Buinoray |ejoL ZLL'GEE §

a8 ulwpy AID eleL GOB'ESS S

T

ainideD [BI0L /50°'865'G §

T102/91/8
WIUM [2RYA AG pasedald

005°6£Z'Z$ Buielo) suswesosdw)
ainyaniiseyul AuD 10} Juswhed sepnjsu puog,

aouejeg

JusWasINquilay [ejo)
juawasinquiay eI
JuUaWASINqWIdY |80

JuswasiNguiay YOIW

aouejeg

JusLWIasINquWIay |RI0 |
JusWwasInguiay ajels
jusWasINGUIaY |B307

Jusweasinquiiey DIANW

Juawhed 4|1 Jeyy eng asuejeg
wawAey 4|1 Jadoanag
Juawaesinquiay 4|) Jedojanag

eng asueleg puog Aianay ajq
Jduswded puog Aoy ajq1613
Juswasinquiey puog Alanoy 911613

3

(a1e1g) Juawhey jediduug
JuswesInquiley 4L 1S

(1eo07) wewdhed edioulid
Jjuawasinquiiay Yaa/41L Pleyumolg [eao]

JuBWASINGUIIRY 10} BqR|IBAY BAllEINWND
JUBWASINGWISY 10} I[QE|IBAY JBJOL

(12207} vQQ wawded aaeinwng
(1e207) waq wawAed [ejo)

pung Buiajoaay aane|nwing
(f&jup 1e207) pung Buiajoaay [eso)
pung Buiajoasy [eso |ejoL
894 ulwpy A9 sanejnwng
(AjuQ 12207 %01) 883 ujwpy A1
984 uoljensiuiwpY A3D
playumolg asnjdes [gjog
anjep ajqexe] ajqeinydeg [gjoL
Juawanoidw| JaYe anjep ajqexe]
an|ep a|qexe] jualny
spey) aamyde) 11

JqaeA ueqa spdey puean

C-14



Exhibit C

Site Rendering

C-15



y2II1j . ::_52

SIDUHIEY /)

I»& ¥ éd

el 23S - 1dS
194 Ueq) spidey pueln

Wd L8412
11025419

C-16



Exhibit D

Environmental Summary

C-17



4.0 KNOWN CONTAMINATION

5.1 KNOWN HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES PRESENT ON THE PRCPERTY
The Phase I E5A study at the Site confirmed the presence of hazardous substances at concentrations above
applicable Part 207 generic residential cleanup criteria in soil and groundwater samples. The following 1able

fists the contaminants detected in soil that exceed generic residential cleenup criteria:

" Part 201 Generic Samples Where
Residential Cleanup Contaminant Was
Criteria Exceeded - Detected
Benzene GP-114-7}
\ SIF, Svil - 4,700
71432) DWR, GSIF. SVHC G256 o
Ethylbenzene GP-1{4-7)
WP, GSIP e et 2,000
(100414} DWR G GP-2(5-6) ?
1.2, 4-trimethylnenzene WP GEt GP-1 i4-7) 9
piion CWP GSIP AR 2.000
1.3.5trimethyloenzens GP-1 (8-71 R
PGS 0
1108678) WP GEIP GP-2(5-6) 00
Xylenes GP-114-7; .
N WP GS N 135 100
11320207) DWP, GSIP GP-2 5-6} e
Benzoia pyn GP-8 (C-4:
e " bcc GP-8 103 14,000
12028 GR-10{1-4)
Clberzetahlenthrecens GP-8 (0-4; < ran
(55564 e GP10 {14} 3,000
Fluoranthene GP-8{0-4)
1064401 GSIE DCL GF-9 [0-3! 1100
1206440} GR-101-4]
Naphthalene c e
104518} Gsip 5300
e nanbrene Gsip 30,000
EE GP-10[1-4)

C-18




GF-11-4}
GR-200-
Arsenic G50
DWE DO : 31,000
(7440382; We Bee G2-8 (04 21,00
GF-& [0-3]
GP-10 {-4;
Chromivm
3 T 000
(7440473} Gsip 27.000
Coupper
5510 210,00
17240508; GSt 0,000
-ea CWF, DCC 550,000
i7438921) ' -
Mercury Gsip -
(7439975} '
Selenium . .
SiP ¢
(7782482) G A
Zing - P
7240665) GSIP 290,000

GSIP = Groundwater / Surtace Water Interface Criteria

DWP - Drinking Water Sratection {riteriz
DL - Direct Contect Criteria
DWC = Drinking Water Criteria

GVIC - Grounewater Yolatilizaton to Indoor Air \nhalation Criteria

The following table lists the comaminants detected in groundwater that exceed generic residential cleanup

crileria:

. f A Samples Where ‘Maximum
Parameter (CAS No.j Pt 201 Gce':_'z ::i;s::::::l Cloanup Contaminant Was Concentration
Detected fug/L)
Copper ac -5 (GW) 2
17440508) DwC, GSI GP-5 {GW) 26
Lead o i
7433931 DWC GP-5 [GW) ]

C-19



FIRST AMENDMENT TO PAYMENT AND REPAYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO PAYMENT AND REPAYMENT AGREEMENT
(the “First Amendment”) is made as of September 2, 2014, by and between the CITY OF
GRAND RAPIDS BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, (the “Authority”)
and the CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY,
(“GRDDA™).

RECITALS

A. The Authority and the GRDDA previously entered into a Payment and
Repayment Agreement on April 12, 2012 (the “Agreement”), related to (i) the payment of debt
service on bonds issued by the Authority related to Infrastructure Improvements (as identified in
the Agreement) related to the Project (as identified in the Agreement) and (ii) the payment or
reimbursement of other amounts as provided in the Agreement with Authority Tax Increment
Revenues (as defined in the Agreement).

B. The Authority and Grand Rapids Downtown Market, Inc. and Grand Rapids
Downtown Market Holdings, LLC have entered into a Development and Reimbursement
Agreement dated as of September 2, 2014 (the “D and R Agreement”), related to the Project
requiring that certain provisions of the Agreement be amended to conform with the provisions of
the D and R Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and conditions contained in this
First Amendment and the benefits to be mutually derived therefrom, receipt and sufficiency of
which are mutually acknowledged, the Authority and GRDDA agree as follows:

Section 1. Amendment to Section 2 of Agreement. Section 2 of the Agreement is
amended in its entirety to read as follows:

Section 2. Payment of Debt Service Shortfall. In the
event in any annual period the DDA Annual Payment plus the
Authority Tax Increment Revenues realized from the Project in
such annual period are insufficient to pay, when due, the debt
service on such Bonds for such annual period and an additional
amount required to be paid by the developer of the Project, Grand
Rapids Downtown Market Holdings, LLC (“Holdings”), under a
Ground Lease dated as of January 1, 2012, related to the Project
between the GRDDA and Holdings, as assignee pursuant to an
Assignment of Lease effective as of May 23, 2013, between Grand
Rapids Downtown Market, Inc., as assignor, and Holdings, as
assignee, as amended by a First Amendment to Ground Lease
made as of September 2, 2014, between GRDDA and Holdings, to
make up such shortfall that has not been timely paid to the
Authority, the GRDDA will, upon request of the Authority,

GRAPIDS 60856-254 334630v1



advance an amount sufficient to make up the shortfall. Any
advance shall be timely made by GRDDA to the Authority in order
that principal of and interest on the Bonds may be paid when due.

Section 2. Amendment to Section 4 of Agreement. Subsection D of Section 4 of
Agreement is amended in its entirety to read as follows:
D. Fourth to reimburse Grand Rapids Downtown Market, Inc.
and Holdings for the cost of “eligible activities” they incurred.
Section 3. Ratification of Agreement. Except as otherwise provided in this First

Amendment, the Agreement is hereby ratified and confirmed.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority and GRDDA have caused these presents to be
signed as of the date and year first written above.

CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS BROWNFIELD
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

By:

Terry Nicholas, Chairperson

CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

By:

Brian Harris, Chairperson

GRAPIDS 60856-254 334630v1



CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

RESOLUTION  APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING
EXECUTION OF FIRST AMENDMENT TO GROUND
LEASE WITH GRAND RAPIDS DOWNTOWN MARKET
HOLDINGS, LLC AND A FIRST AMENDMENT TO
PAYMENT AND REPAYMENT AGREEMENT WITH THE
CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT
AUTHORITY

Boardmember , supported by Boardmember , moved

adoption of the following resolution:

WHEREAS the City of Grand Rapids Brownfield Redevelopment Authority and Grand
Rapids Downtown Market, Inc. (“GRDM”) and Grand Rapids Downtown Market Holdings,
LLC (“Holdings”) will enter into a Development and Reimbursement Agreement (the “D and R

Agreement”) related to the Project as therein identified; and

WHEREAS, the provisions of the D and R Agreement require that a certain provision in
the Ground Lease dated as of January 1, 2012, between City of Grand Rapids Downtown
Development Authority (the “GRDDA”) and Holdings be amended to conform with the
provisions of the D and R Agreement pursuant to a First Amendment to Ground Lease (the “First

Amendment to Lease”) between the GRDDA and Holdings; and

WHEREAS, the provisions of the D and R Agreement also require that certain
provisions in the Payment and Repayment Agreement made and entered into April 12, 2012,
between the City of Grand Rapids Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (the “GRBRA”) and the
GRDDA be amended to conform with the provisions of the D and R Agreement pursuant to a
First Amendment to Payment and Repayment Agreement (the “First Amendment to P and R

Agreement”) between the GRBRA and GRDDA.

GRAPIDS 60856-254 334631v1



NOW, THEREFORE, IT ISHEREBY RESOLVED THAT:

1. The First Amendment to Lease between the GRDDA and Holdings and the First
Amendment to P and R Agreement between GRBRA and GRDDA both as presented at this
meeting are approved with such modification not materially adverse to GRDDA approved as to
content by the GRDDA Executive Director and as to form by GRDDA legal counsel and the
Chairperson of the Board of Directors of the GRDDA is authorized and directed to execute both
approved First Amendments for and on behalf of the GRDDA.

2. All resolutions and parts of resolutions insofar as they conflict with the provisions
of this resolution be and the same are rescinded.

YEAS: Boardmembers

NAYS: Boardmembers

ABSTAIN: Boardmembers

ABSENT: Boardmembers

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED.

Dated: September 10, 2014

Mary Sierawski
Recording Secretary

CERTIFICATION

I, the undersigned duly qualified and acting Recording Secretary of the City of Grand
Rapids Downtown Development Authority (the “GRDDA”), do herby certify that the foregoing
is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of the GRDDA at a
meeting held on September 10, 2014, and that public notice of said meeting was given pursuant
to, and in compliance with, Act 267 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1976, as amended.

Dated: September 10, 2014

Mary Sierawski
Recording Secretary

-2-

GRAPIDS 60856-254 334631v1



NMEMERANDUIN

CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS - DOWNTOWN DEVELOPNMENT AUTHORITY

AIE oeptembers, 2014 SAg;:chnibe:ToézoM
TO: Downtown Development Authority DDA Meeting
FROM: Kristopher Larson, AICP /

Executive Director

SUBJECT:  Approval to Execute Property Exchange Agreement

In December of 2011, the Downtown Development Authority (DDA) approved a term sheet (The Agreement) with the City
of Grand Rapids (The City) that outlined a potential property exchange regarding 138 Weston Street SW (Area 1) and 125
Cherry St. SW (Area 5). The Agreement was the result of development interest in Area 5, and reflected a mutual desire for
the DDA to serve as the lead on the property disposition. Given the difference in physical area and resulting value between
Areas 1 & 5, the Agreement also specified the amount of monetary compensation to be paid to the City by the DDA in the
event that the property exchange would be executed.

Following the execution of the Agreement, the DDA entered into a two-year option agreement for Area 5 with Jackson
Entertainment, LLC (Jackson). That option was renewed for one additional year in April, 2014. Also since the execution of the
term sheet, the Area 1 property was disposed separately, resulting the in the need to execute the property exchange such that
the DDA assumes ownership of Area 5 in the event that Jackson chooses to exercise its option.

The execution of the property exchange would result in the DDA issuing immediate payment of $2,077,514.50 to the City of
Grand Rapids, plus $130,248.55 with interest over ten installments commencing on December 1, 2015, These expenses were
anticipated and appear in the approved FY15 DDA Budget and Priority Plan. Following suit, the City would convey ownership
of Area 5 to the DDA within 60 days. This Agreement also requires approval by the City Commission.

Recommendation: Authorize the DDA Board Chair to exercise the attached Property Exchange Agreement and
adopt the corresponding resolution.




PROPERTY EXCHANGE AGREEMENT

THIS PROPERTY EXCHANGE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and
entered into as of September 2, 2014, by and between the CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS, a
Michigan municipal corporation (the “City”), and the CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a Michigan statutory authority created by
the City pursuant to Act 197 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1975, as amended (the
“GRDDA”).

RECITALS

A. The Board of Directors of GRDDA by resolution adopted December 4, 2011 (the
“GRDDA Resolution”), and the City Commission of the City by resolution adopted December
20, 2011 (Proceeding No. 81010) approved the terms of a term sheet (the “Term Sheet”) between
the City and GRDDA for the exchange by the GRDDA of a parcel of property it owns at 138
Weston Street, S.W. in the City known as “Area 1” and identified on the attached Attachment I
for a parcel of property owned by the City at 125 Cherry Street, S.W. in the City known as
“Area 5” and identified on the attached Attachment I (the “Exchange”).

B. In accordance with the Term Sheet, based on the independent appraisals of
Area 1, having an appraisal value of $2,250,000, and Area 5, having an appraised value
$3,380,000, the GRDDA was to receive title to Area 5 from the City and the City was to receive
title to Area 1 plus $1,130,000 ($3,380,000 minus $2,250,000) payable in 10 annual installments
plus interst on the unpaid balance of 4% per annum.

C. The GRDDA Resolution also authorized the GRDDA Executive Director to make
Area 5 available for sale; Area 5 was listed for sale; the proposal of Jackson Entertainment,
L.L.C. (“Jackson”) for an option to purchase Area 5 was approved by the Board of Directors of
GRDDA by resolution on April 11, 2012; and an Option Agreement was entered into by
GRDDA and Jackson on April 30, 2012 for the purchase of Area 5 by Jackson (the “Jackson
Option”)

D. The Option Agreement provided that GRDDA was to obtain title to Area 5 from
the City if Jackson exercised the Jackson Option and the purchase price was to be determined by
an independent appraisal within 10 days after Jackson’s exercise of the Jackson Option.

E. While the Term Sheet Permits the Exchange to occur at anytime, it was
determined not to have it occur unless or until Jackson exercised the Jackson Option to purchase
Area 5.

F. Before Jackson exercised the Jackson Option or the Jackson Option otherwise
terminated, interest was expressed in the development of Area 1 and the Board of Directors of
GRDDA determined to list Area 1 for sale.

G. GRDDA received a proposal from Arena Place Development, LLC (“Arena
Place”) for an option to purchase Area 1 at its appraised value of $2,250,000; the Board of
Directors of the GRDDA by resolution adopted on May 13, 2013, accepted the proposal of

1

GRAPIDS 60856-292 334909v1



Arena Place; and entered into an Option Agreement with Arena Place dated June 17, 2013,
granting Arena Place an option to purchase Area 1 (the “Arena Place Option”).

H. Arena Place exercised the Arena Place Option and title to Area 1 was conveyed
by GRDDA to Arena Place on May 22, 2014.

l. It is now necessary to memorialize (i) the intent of the Term Sheet taking into
account the Jackson Option to Purchase Area 5 and Arena Place’s purchase of Area 1 and (ii) the
terms and the conditions of the Exchange.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and conditions contained in this
Agreement and the benefits to be mutually derived therefrom, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are mutually acknowledged, the City and DDA agree as follows:

Section 1. Conveyance of Area 5 to GRDDA. The City shall convey Area 5 to
GRDDA by quit claim deed not later than 60 days after the date of this Agreement for the
consideration set forth in Section 2. hereof.

Section 2. Consideration to City. In consideration of its conveyance of Area 1 to
GRDDA, GRDDA shall pay the City at the time of conveyance $2,077,514.50 representing the
net purchase price GRDDA received from the sale of Area 1 to Arena Place. In addition, the
GRDDA shall pay the City $1,302,485.50 ($3,380,000.00 minus $2,077,514.50) in ten annual
installments of $130,248.55 plus interest on the unpaid amount at the rate of 4% per annum
accruing from the date the City conveys Area 5 to GRDDA pursuant to Section 1 hereof. The
annual installments plus accrued interest shall be payable commencing December 1, 2015, and
each December 1 thereafter until fully paid. Provided, however, upon transfer of ownership of
Lot 5 by GRDDA to a third party, the unpaid balance of the installment payments plus accrued
interest shall be immediately due and payable by GRDDA to the City. Provided, further,
GRDDA may prepay the unpaid installments at any time, in whole or in part, without payment of
a premium or prepayment penalty.

Section 3. Execution of Documents. The Mayor and City Clerk are authorized and
directed to execute a quit claim deed conveying Area 5 to GRDDA approved as to form by the
City Attorney. The City Manager and Chief Financial Officer of the City or their respective
designees are authorized to execute all documents and certificates related such conveyance
approved as to form by the City Attorney. The Executive Director of GRDDA or his designee is
authorized to execute all documents and certificates related to such conveyance approved as to
form by GRDDA legal counsel.

Section 4. Conflict. To the extent there is a conflict between the provisions of this
Agreement and the Term Sheet the provisions of this Agreement shall control.

Section 5. Recording. GRDDA shall, at its cost, record the quit claim deed conveying
Area 5 to it with the Kent County Register of Deeds.

GRAPIDS 60856-292 334909v1



GRAPIDS 60856-292 334909v1

CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS

By:

George K. Heartwell, Mayor

Attest:

Darlene O’Neal, City Clerk

CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

By:

Brian Harris, Chairperson



ATTACHMENT I

ey e gy
ruen wews g
LI B VR
dei sy
fprg oy o
en -~ -
CTEs ey o
upO e
SRy D sy
<HIORA s yus
SouEpunog UAWILBA0S)
speg
SPUMMIS 1ODYIG
sBuppng jooyog
$0UDY Due Sawe
ssany
speoisey

——
Aieruy
Gy
i e,
YO
AEpucnag
Aspuiti
ApmyBiyy
[RudYY

I RN2LRd ¢ 50; SSBUY S| 0 Apigey pe awnsse
HOUELAIOIUI SI1 J0 SIASM "DOIUGEIE UOGRWIOM BN I
SSHUINBSN 10 °§SIUBOICIL00 A0 au) SuipirBas “panduwi

PO TALE S et 4 @08 ue iy BB TCRR (e

Sodey puRe 1o Ay ij

20 p9532U0x "AueLRm U SaYEW SPIBRY PLEIO 0 A1 Byy »w..i_wwet? TR

Buiddepy Jausayu) spidey pueis jo A9

A-1

GRAPIDS 60856-292 334909v1



CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE
EXECUTION OF A PROPERTY EXCHANGE
AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS
RELATED SURFACE PARKING LOT AREA 1 AND AREA
5

Boardmember , supported by Boardmember , moved

adoption of the following resolution:

WHEREAS the City of Grand Rapids (the “City”) and the City of Grand Rapids
Downtown Development Authority (the “GRDDA”) in 2011 approved and entered into a term
sheet (the “Term Sheet”) for the exchange of property owned by the City located at 125 Cherry
Street, S.W. in the City known as “Area 5” for property owned by GRDDA located at 138

Weston Street, S.W. in the City known as “Area 1;” and

WHEREAS, since approval of the Term Sheet an option has been granted to Jackson
Entertainment, L.L.C. to purchase Area 5 (the “Jackson Option”) and Area 1 has been sold to

Arena Place Development, LLC (the “Arena Place Purchase”); and

WHEREAS, it is necessary to memorialize (i) the intent of the Term Sheet taking into
account the Jackson Option and the Arena Place Purchase and (ii) the terms and conditions of the
exchange of Area 5 for Area 1 as set forth in the Property Exchange Agreement (the

“Agreement”) between the City and GRDDA.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT ISHEREBY RESOLVED THAT:

1. That the Agreement in the form presented at this meeting is approved with such
modifications not materially adverse to GRDDA approved as to content by the GRDDA
Executive Director and as to form by DDA legal counsel and the Chairperson of the GRDDA

GRAPIDS 60856-292 334901v1



Board of Directors is authorized and directed to execute the approved Agreement for and on
behalf of GRDDA..

2. All resolutions and parts of resolutions in conflict herewith shall be and the same
are hereby rescinded.

YEAS: Boardmembers

NAYS: Boardmembers

ABSTAIN: Boardmembers

ABSENT: Boardmembers

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED.

Dated: September 10, 2014

Mary Sierawski
Recording Secretary

CERTIFICATION

I, the undersigned duly qualified and acting Recording Secretary of the City of Grand
Rapids Downtown Development Authority (the “GRDDA”), do herby certify that the foregoing
is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of the GRDDA at a
meeting held on September 10, 2014, and that public notice of said meeting was given pursuant
to, and in compliance with, Act 267 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1976, as amended.

Dated: September 10, 2014

Mary Sierawski
Recording Secretary

GRAPIDS 60856-292 334901v1



NMENMERANDLUIN

CITY OF GRAND HAF’IDS DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

DATE: September 5, 2014 Agenda ltem 7

September 10, 2014
TO: Downtown Development Authority DDA Meeting
FROM: Tim Kelly, AICP ’]Z

Planning Manager
SUBJECT: Event License Agreement for 50 Louis Street NW for GR Forward Open House

On January 8, 2014, the Downtown Development Authority (DDA) Board approved a Resolution directing staff
and counsel to finalize a scope of work, and authorizing the Chairperson of the DDA Board to execute a contract
with Interface Studios (Interface) for consulting services for the Downtown, Grand River Corridor, and the Grand
Rapids Public Schools Museum School and Innovation Central High master plans. The project has since been
jointly re-branded as GR Forward.

Interface was selected as the lead consultant by a volunteer Selection Committee largely for their creative and
inclusive community outreach strategy. Among the tools they proposed to employ is the conversion of a vacant
retail space into a visible and welcoming project headquarters. The space will host a series of Open Houses as
well as other activities, and will engage residents in discussions about all components of GR Forward.

After conversations and meetings with several community partners, CWD Real Estate (CWD) notified staff of
the availability of the space at 50 Louis Street NW, Suite 102, which was previously home to Lee & Birch. Given
the location and visibility of the space, it is expected the location will help attract those not currently familiar with
the ongoing GR Forward efforts.

To memorialize the relationship for use of the space, counsel and CWD have requested execution of the
attached Event License Agreement. Under the terms of the Agreement, the DDA will use the space at no cost
from September 15 through December 12, with the landlord maintaining the right to terminate the Agreement at
any point after November 14 with fifteen (15) days written notice. In exchange for free use of the space, any GR
Forward materials produced advertising activities at the space will list CWD as a sponsor.

While securing the space is a major milestone in the process, there are several logistical items to be worked out.
The space will need to be staffed, and reqular hours of operation will need to be established so visitors know



when they can visit. Additionally, several events will also be planned and held in the space. Staft will work
collaboratively with the GR Forward consultant team to finalize these details. Both the Downtown and River
Corridor Steering Committees will be engaged to help program the space. If approved, it is anticipated work will
begin at the space on September 15, with events beginning the first week of October.

RECOMMENDATION: Authorize the DDA Board Chair to execute the Event License Agreement
between the Downtown Development Authority and CWD Real Estate.




EVENT LICENSE AGREEMENT

This EVENT LICENSE AGREEMENT made this day of September, 2014 between
the undersigned Landlord and the undersigned Tenant.

LANDLORD: TENANT:

CWD 50 Louis, LLC Downtown Development Authority
c/o CWD Real Estate Investment 300 Monroe NW

50 Louis NW, Suite 600 Grand Rapids, MI 49503

Grand Rapids, MI 49503

1. Leased Premises. The “Building” contains commercial office space defined as the
“Premises” at 50 Louis NW, Suite 102 (former Lee & Birch retail space) in Grand Rapids, Ml as
designated by Landlord.

2. Term. The period of licensed use is September 15, 2014 through December 12,
2014. At any point on or after November 14, 2014, the Landlord has the right to terminate this
Event License Agreement with fifteen (15) days advance written notice to the Tenant.

3. Fee. The Landlord shall donate the Premises for use during the Term in exchange
for having the “CWD Building” and/or “CWD Real Estate Investment” listed in the marketing
brochures and general publications that are distributed for the scheduled events within the
Premises.

4. Tenant’s Responsibilities and Expenses. Tenant is solely responsible for all
janitorial and refuse collection at the Premises and all nonstructural repairs and maintenance of
the Premises needed for Tenant to conduct its operations during the Term. Landlord shall be
indemnified by the Tenant against such costs, expenses and obligations. Tenant shall not block or
restrict access to the Building’s entrances, elevators, or stairwells. Tenant shall provide insurance
coverage to comply with the limits listed on Exhibit A.

5. Use. Tenant may use the Premises for the duration of the Term and for no other
purposes without the written consent of the Landlord. The use for the space will be to serve as
project headquarters for the GR Forward planning effort. The Premises will be used in part to organize
a series of exhibits about Grand Rapids and to host interactive activities for the community to
participate in the process. Tenant shall not do or permit anything to be done on the Premises that
may violate any state or federal law or local ordinance.

6. Indemnity. Tenant agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Landlord from any
and all claims, demands, liabilities, costs and expenses of whatsoever kind or nature which in
any way arise out of Tenant’s use and occupancy of the Premises. The liability of Tenant to
indemnify Landlord as herein set forth shall not apply to the extent Landlord recovers under any
existing insurance; provided, however, that if such liability shall exceed the amount collected
under any existing insurance, the said liability of Tenant shall apply to such excess.



7. Waiver of Subrogation. Landlord and Tenant waive all right of recovery against
each other for any loss covered by insurance. The insurance policies on the Premises shall
include a waiver of subrogation by the insurance carrier.

8. Tenant Alterations. Tenant shall make no improvements, alterations or changes to
the Premises without the written consent of Landlord to be given in its discretion; provided,
Tenant may make temporary alterations and additions, including signage, provided Tenant
restores the Premises during such period as required by this Agreement. Tenant shall not attach
any signs or projections to the exterior of the Premises without the Landlord’s consent to be
given in its discretion. Tenant shall not install any additional locks. All improvements, alterations
and changes to the Premises made by the Tenant with the consent of the Landlord shall be the
property of Tenant unless otherwise provided as part of Landlord’s consent.

9. Access. Landlord may enter the Premises at any time in event of emergency, to
prevent loss or destruction of the Premises.

10.  Title to Property to be Preserved. Tenant agrees, and notice is hereby given, that
no construction, mechanic’s, or other liens, shall in any manner or degree affect the title of the
Landlord to the Building or Premises, nor shall anything in this Agreement authorize the Tenant
to encumber or impair in any manner the title of the Landlord in the Building or the Premises,
including lands, buildings and personal property.

11. Return of Premises. Tenant shall return the Premises to Landlord upon the end of
the licensed period in like condition as upon the date Tenant received such.

12. Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the
parties respecting the matters mentioned in it and supersedes all prior agreements respecting such
matters.

Witnesses: LANDLORD:
CWD 50 Louis, LLC

By

Its

TENANT:
Downtown Development Authority

By

Its




Exhibit A
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

The coverage indicated below must be provided through an insurance company, which carries an A. M.
Best rating of no less than “A-" “VIII”. A certificate evidencing the coverage noted below shall be on file
in our office prior to the commencement of the work, and shall provide for thirty (30) days prior written
notice of cancellation or reduction of coverage. This certificate must include additional insured language
as noted in #4 below.

Access may be denied until the management office of the building receives evidence of all insurance
coverage required.

The minimum requirements acceptable are:

1. Commercial General Liability $1,000,000 each occurrence
Bodily Injury and Property Damage $1,000,000 aggregate

3. Workers’ Compensation Statutory Requirements
Employer’s Liability Limit $500,000/$500,000/$500,000 per

accident/disease/employee
Statutory coverage as required by state in which the work is to be performed. If you are self-
employed with no other employees, a qualified self-insured, or not required to carry Workers’
Compensation, you must submit a letter stating this, or a copy, or a copy of your certificate of
self-insurance. A Waiver of Subrogation endorsement issued in favor of CWD Real Estate
Investment and CWD 171 Monroe, LLC must be attached to the certificate.

Total Per Occurrence/Accident Limits for Commercial General Liability, Auto Liability and
Employer’s Liability Insurance may be satisfied by a party with any combination of primary and
excess or umbrella liability policies totaling the amount of the required insurance.

4. Additional Insured Endorsement
(Form B CG 2010 11/85 or equivalent) This endorsement must be attached to the certificate.
You are required to name the entities below as Additional Insured in an endorsement to your
Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability Coverage policies:

CWD 50 Louis, LLC
50 Louis NW, Suite 600
Grand Rapids, M1 49503

CWD Urban Fund, LLC
CWD Real Estate Investment, LLC

The endorsement may include the following clause, or a separate endorsement may be issued:
Primary coverage

“The insurance afforded by this policy for the additional insured(s) is primary insurance and any other
insurance maintained by or available to the additional insured(s) is non-contributory”

Note: We ask the additional insured endorsement provide coverage for “all operations” or “all operations
performed for CWD 50 Louis, LLC, CWD Urban Fund, LLC and CWD Real Estate Investment, LLC” in
order to minimize paperwork for you and us.



	Downtown Development Authority Agenda
	DDA Minutes
	Financial Reports
	Statement A - Balance Sheet
	Statement B - Comparison of Budget vs Actual
	Statement C - Current Project Expenses
	Statement D - Summary of Expenditures

	Untitled
	Untitled
	Untitled
	Untitled
	Executive Director's Report

